PUBLIC NOTICE

City of Lockhart
Historical Preservation Commission
'5:30 p.m. Wednesday, June 4, 2025
Municipal Building — Glosserman Room
308 West San Antonio Street

AGENDA

1. Call meeting to order.

2. Citizen comments not related to an agenda item.

3. Consider the minutes of the May 7, 2025 meeting.

4. CFA-25-14. Consider a request by Amy Bramwell of Studio Steinbomer Architecture & Interiors for
approval of a Certificate for Alteration for various exterior improvements to Lockhart Fire Station #1
on part of Lot 6, Block 20, Original Town of Lockhart, zoned CCB (Commercial Central Business), and
located at 201 West Market St.

5. CFA-25-16. Consider a request by Alexander Scott of 3" Rock Electrical Contractors, LLC for approval
of a Certificate for Alteration for a new electric utility pole and associated equipment to serve an
existing building on part of Lot 6, Block 19, Original Town of Lockhart, on property zoned CCB
(Commercial Central Business), and located at 119 South Main St.

6. Discuss the possibility of prohibiting fabric awnings in the Historic District.

7. Discuss the date and agenda of the next meeting, including Commission requests for agenda items.

8. Adjournment.

Posted on the bulletin board in the Municipal Building, 308 West San Antonio Street,
Lockhart, Texas, at 9:00 a.m. on the 30 day of May, 2025.



City of Lockhart
Historical Preservation Commission
May 7, 2025

MINUTES

Members Present:, Christine Ohlendorf, Ray Ramsey, Ron Faulstich, Jerry Haug

Members Absent: Kevin Thuerwaechter, Marcia Proctor, Frank Gomillion

Staff Present: David Fowler, Kevin Waller, Romy Brossman

Public Present: Jay and Bianca DelaCruz (applicants, Agenda ltem 4), Chad Rea {applicant,

item 5), Grace Reyer (applicant, Item 6), Don O’Neil (applicant, Item 7), and
Timothy Wakefield (applicant, Item 8), Cindy Gibeaux

Call meeting to order. Vice-Chair Ohlendorf called the meeting to order at 5:36 p.m.

Citizen comments not related to an agenda item. None

Consider the minutes of the Aprii 23, 2025, meeting.

Commissioner Haug moved to approve the minutes as presented. Commissioner Ramsey
seconded; the motion passed by a vote of 4 - 0.

CFA-25-09. Consider a request by Jay De La Cruz of Double Down Construction for approval
of a Certificate for Alteration for a new awning on part of Lot 5, Block 22, Original Town of
Lockhart, zoned CCB {Commercial Central Business) and located at 107 N. Main St.

Planning Staff Kevin Waller presented the staff report via PowerPoint. The applicant
proposes a new awning at the subject property. The awning will be an extruded aluminum,
flat tie-back canopy with a 24-gauge standing seam and a mill finished underside. It will have
a rust color, powder coat finish, be engineered, and measure 37 feet wide with a 6-foot
projection. It will be attached to the building using existing wall hangers and mounted flushed
and sealed to the existing blocking where a previous awning was attached. Mr. Waller noted
that a citizen comment was received voicing concern about the shorter, 6 foot awning
projection over the sidewalk, as well as drainage. Staff recommends approval for the project.

Applicant Jay De La Cruz, 1607 Bluebell Cir., Lockhart, TX, discussed the engineering process
for the awning and stated that the preferred projection is 8 feet. He continued that the
awning is being modeled after the awning across the street at “Logos.”

Property owner Cindy Gibeaux, 107 N. Main St, Lockhart, TX, discussed design details and
strategies to avoid property damage.

Commissioner Faulstich discussed possible design and drainage options with the applicant
and business owner. He expressed that an 8 or 9 foot awning would be preferred.
-1-
Historical Preservation Commission Meeting 5-7-2025



Vice-Chair Ohlendorf moved to approve CFA-25-09, with the recommendation for an awning
projecting to the edge of the sidewalk if determined feasible by an engineer, or an awning
projecting 6 feet with an engineer’s letter stating an 8 foot projection is not possible.
Commissioner Faulstich seconded; the motion passed by a vote of 4 - 0.

CFA-25-10. Consider a request by Chad Rea for approval of a Certificate for Alteration for
window and hanging signs on Lot 2, Block 23, Original Town of Lackhart, on property zoned
CCB (Commercial Central Business), and located at 111 E. San Antonio St.

Mr. Waller presented the staff report and explained that the applicant proposes a window
sign and hanging sign for a new retail art gallery and gift shop at the subject property. The
window sign will be an abstract representation of a smiley face consisting of an “X” set at an
angle with a wide “U” shape below. The hanging sign will feature the business name, “Cult of
Happy”, in black lettering against a white background, framed with a black border. Staff
recommends approval.

Applicant Chad Rea respectfully reported that he had nothing to say.

Commissioner Ramsey moved to approve CFA-25-10, with Staff’s conditions that the property
owner’s signature be provided on the application form, prior to sign permit issuance, and that
the hanging sign maintain at least 7 feet of clearance above the public sidewalk. Vice-Chair
Ohlendorf seconded, the motion passed by a vote of 4 - 0.

CFA-25-11. Consider a request by Grace Reyer for approval of a Certificate for Alteration for
new signage and the repainting of a portion of the front facade to a different color on part of
Lot 6, Block 20, Original Town of Lockhart, on property zoned CCB (Commercial Central
Business), and located at 215 W. Market St., Suite B.

Mr. Waller reported that two window signs are proposed, as well as the repainting of the
front fagade to a different color {white) for the Plum Creek Records and Tapes retail store.
The two decal signs will be placed on the glass of the front double doors, with each measuring
4.2 square feet in size. The repainting will occur beneath the awning. Staff recommends
approval.

Vice-Chair Ohlendorf moved to approve CFA-25-11 as presented. Commissioner Ramsey
seconded; the motion passed by a vote of 4 - 0.

CFA-25-12. Consider a request by Don Q’Neil for approval of a Certificate for Alteration for a
front door replacement, painting over clerestory windows, and two new signs on part of Lot
4, Block 22, Original Town of Lockhart, on property zoned CCB {Commercial Central Business),
and located at 119 N. Main 5t.

Mr. Waller reported that the proposal includes a new window sign, projecting wall sign, new
front door, and the painting of clerestory windows on the front facade. The window sign will
be located on the glass of the new front door. The projecting wall sign will be square in shape
and made of black wood with brass foil. This sign will hang 8 feet above the sidewalk from a
black iron bracket attached to the building with existing awning bolts. The existing, damaged

-2-
Historical Preservation Commission Meeting 5-7-2025



front door will be replaced with a single pane glass door and painted the same red color. The
clerestory windows will be painted over in the same red color. Staff recommends approval
of the proposed project.

Applicant Don O’'Neil, 542 FM 672, Lockhart, TX, introduced himself to the Commission.

Commissioner Fauistich asked the applicant if the vent in the photo, above and to the right
of the front door, is functioning. He also asked if, instead of painting over the windows, a
solid piece of wood, painted the same red, could be installed over the vent and clerestory
windows.

Mr. O’Neil replied that wood paneling could be used in lieu of painting over the clerestory
windows, and that the landlord must okay the alteration.

Commissioner Ramsey moved to approve CFA-25-12, with the condition that the clerestory
windows and vent are covered with a wood panel, painted the same existing red color.
Commissioner Faulstich seconded; the motion passed by a vote of 4 - 0.

CFA-25-13. Consider a reqguest by Timothy Wakefield for approval of a Certificate for
Alteration for new signage, hanging flower baskets, and planter boxes on part of Lot 4-A,
Block 22, Original Town of Lockhart, on property zoned CCB (Commercial Central Business)
and located at 115 N. Main St.

Mr. Waller reported that the proposal is for two new wall signs, four hanging flower baskets,
and two planter boxes for Soundwaves Art Foundation. The two signs will be placed on either
side of the entry and will feature changing information about new artists, print releases, and
events. Each sign will be made of canvas with a wood frame, affixed to the walls through the
mortar joints, and will measure 18 inches by 30 inches. The signs will be changed-out
monthly. The baskets will be hung from brackets attached to the wall through the mortar.
The two iron planter boxes are already in place in front of the windows. Staff recommends
approval.

Commissioner Faulstich asked the applicant how the signs will be removed and replaced.

Applicant Timothy Wakefield, 201 N. Pecos St, Lockhart, TX, replied that the signs will be
professionally mounted and the same holes will be reused.

Commissioner Faulstich moved to approve CFA-25-13, with Staff’s condition that the hanging
flower baskets maintain at least 7 feet of clearance above the public sidewalk. Commissioner
Ramsey seconded; the motion passed by a vote of 4 - 0.

Discuss the date and agenda of the next meeting, including Commission requests for agenda
items.

The Commission requested that a discussion about awnings, specifically awning materials, be
added to a future agenda.

-3-
Historical Preservation Commission Meeting 5-7-2025



Mr. Waller stated that the next regularly scheduled meeting would be held June 4", and that
no applications have been received to date.

10. Adjournment.

Commissioner Faulstich moved to adjourn the meeting, and Commissioner Haug seconded.
The motion passed by a vote of 4-0, and the meeting adjourned at 6:26 p.m.

Approved:

{date)

Romy Brossman, Recording Secretary Kevin Thuerwaechter, Chairman

-4
Historical Preservation Commission Meeting 5-7-2025



CFA-25-14

SUBIJECT PROPERTY

201 W MARKET ST | ] zonmesounoarr

VARIOUS IMPROVEMENTS TO FIRE STATION #1

Scale 1" = 100"






STAFF REPORT CERTIFICATE FOR ALTERATION

CASE SUMMARY

STAFF: Kevin Waller, Historical Preservation Officer / Senior Planner\:\'\/ CASE NUMBER: CFA-25-14
REPORT DATE: May 28, 2025

MEETING DATE: June 4, 2025

APPLICANT’S REQUEST: Various exterior improvements

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Approval

CONDITIONS: None

BACKGROUND DATA

APPLICANT: Amy Bramwell, Studio Steinbomer Architecture & Interiors
OWNER: City of Lockhart Fire Department

SITE LOCATION: 201 West Market St.

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: Part of Lot 6, Block 20, Original Town of Lockhart
EXISTING USE OF PROPERTY: City Fire Station #1

PROPOSED USE OF PROPERTY: Same

ZONING CLASSIFICATION: CCB (Commercial Central Business)

ANALYSIS OF ISSUES

PROJECT DESCRIPTION: Various exteriorimprovements are proposed for City Fire Station #1. An overview
of the conceptual improvements was presented to the Commission at its April 23, 2025 meeting. The
proposed improvements are largely carryover from those presented at the April 23 meeting, with the
exception of the proposed repainting of all exterior wood features. Specifically, the repainting has been
narrowed down to a single paint scheme, being a deep red color for all doors, and a soft white color for
all trim, architectural millwork, and window framing. The other project components include replacement
of the roof with a different material and associated asbestos removal, new gutters and downspouts,
restoration of the bell tower and replacement of the bell tower roof, replacement of the windows and
associated asbestos removal, re-pointing of the brick and mortar where needed, and replacement of the
overhead doors with similar-style doors. The three overhead garage doors on the south building wall
facade to be replaced will consist of an insulated, factory-painted steel material. According to the
applicant, the details and specifications of the replacement windows have not yet been determined, but
will be provided prior to the meeting. With regard to the two steel-barred windows on the north wall
facade, the applicant is considering reinstalling the steel grating after the windows are replaced. Various
interior improvements are also proposed; however, these improvements are non-structural, and, along
with the repointing of the brick and mortar on the exterior, are considered ordinary maintenance and not
subject to a Certificate for Alteration. Please refer to the enclosed photos, elevation drawings, and
detailed scope of work for the overall project.

COMPATIBILITY: The proposed improvements will enhance the building’s appearance, visually benefit the
far west portion of the Courthouse Square Historic District, and will ultimately provide a higher level of
service to Lockhart’s citizens.

COMPLIANCE WITH STANDARDS: The proposed improvements, save for the ordinary maintenance
elements as discussed above, are subject to approval of this Certificate for Alteration, and to the issuance
of building permits and other permits as necessary.

ALTERNATIVES: None necessary.



ﬂﬁé

CERTIFICATE FOR ALTERATION APPLICATION

CFA>\ A

Lockhart

TEXAS

APPLICANT / PROPERTY OWNER

(512) 398-3461 « FAX(5]12] 398-3833
P.O. Box 239 ¢ lLockhart Texas 78644
308 West San Antonio Street

APPLICANT NAME Amy Bramwell

DAY-TIME TELEPHONE °12-479-0022

E.valL @Amy@steinbomer.com

owner Nnavie City of Lockhart

DAY-TIME TELEPHONE 2 12-398-3461

E-valL resendez@lockhart-tx.org

PERSON DOING work City of Lockhart

anpress 4303 Medical Parkway

Austin, TX 78756

ADDRESS 109 S. Colorado St

Lockhart, Texas 78644

EsTIMATED cost 1-6 million

PROPERTY
LEGAL DESCRIPTION O rigad Towa ok Letkherd blotle 129, {oed £ LN &

ADDREss 201 W. Market Street, Lockhart, Tx ZONING cLASSIFICATIONC

GENERAL INFORMATION

An approved Certificate for Alteration (CFA) is required by City Code for all signage, construction, alteration, or
modification of property designated as Historic, if such activities will change the architecture, design, finishes, or
outward appearance of a building, structure, object, site, area, or district, as viewed from the exterior (Ord. 93-19,
Sec. 11 and 12). A CFA is also required for interior work affecting load-bearing walls. A City Sign Permit and/or
City Building Permit may also be required by City Code. Only fully completed applications will be accepted.

PROJECT DESCRIPTION AND ATTACHMENTS

PLEASE INCLUDE PHOTOS OF THE PROJECT AREA WITH THE APPLICATION, AS WELL AS A DIAGRAM(S) OF
THE PROPOSED WORK WITH DIMENSIONS, MATERIALS, METHOD OF ATTACHMENT TO THE BUILDING (IF
APPLICABLE), TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS, ETC. THE DIAGRAM MAY BE HAND-DRAWN.  ALL
ATTACHMENTS MUST BE IN 8.5" X 11" FORMAT. PROVIDE A DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED WORK HERE:

Abatement of cement asbestos roof and replacement with synthetic slate roof tiles. New gutters and downspouts Replacement of deteriorated window with new.

Replacement of deteriorated wood siding with new. New overhead garage doors. New exterior paint. All interior work is non-load bearing.

APPLICATION FEE OF $50.00, payable to the City of Lockhart __Receipt Number: fo \3x-Sas3

TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE, THIS APPLICATION AND ASSOCIATED DOCUMENTS ARE COMPLETE AND CORRECT,
AND IT IS UNDERSTOOD THAT | OR ANOTHER REPRESENTATIVE SHOULD BE PRESENT AT ALL PUBLIC MEETINGS
CONCERNING THIS APPLICATION.

Dightally signed by Amy Bramwell
DN; G=US, E=amy@sleinbomer.com, 0=5tudio Steinbomar,

APPLICANT SIGNATURE  Amy Bramwell  aiieaie paTE 2 19-2025

PROPERTY OWNER SIGNATURE ﬁ///%ﬂ( . S'fCI/{ %ewfs DATE 5-19-2025
v 7 7 W

HISTORICAL PRESERVATION COMMISSION APPROVAL DATE




CERTIFICATE FOR ALTERATION- SCOPE OF WORK QUESTIONNAIRE

This form must be completed by the applicant for a Certificate for Alteration. The Lockhart Historical Preservation
Officer (HPO) shall independently verify all information provided on the application and attached questionnaire. The
HPO shall review the application and this questionnaire in an expedient manner and notify the applicant of the outcome
of the review. Additional information may be needed to complete the application and review process. Final review and
action on the application for the Certificate for Alteration by the Lockhart Historical Preservation Commission in a public
meeting is required. Any required explanations to answers given shall be atlached. The proposed improvements
represented on this application will be the limit of construction and alteration work undertaken.

Construction shall not beqin prior to authorization by the approval of the Certificate for Alteration.

Yes No Verified SCOPE OF WORK QUESTIONS

Section One
X 1. Is this application for construction or alteration on or at a property which is in a Historic District
or a City-designated Historic Landmark? What is its zoning designation? cc®

Check one: Historic Landmark Historic District *

2. s this application for any construction or alteration work that is NOT described or defined as
ordinary maintenance of a historic property? Is it more than limited “Ordinary Maintenance”?

=

3. Will the construction or alteration covered by this application include any work visible from the
exterior of the property?

4. Will the construction or alteration covered by this application remove or physically change any
structural elements of the property (i.e. interior or exterior load-bearing walls, columns, posts,
foundations, footings, etc.)?

Section Two

i

1. Is the construction or alteration covered by this application considered an emergency repair of
sudden, accidental, or unforeseen property damage? When did damage occur?

<

2. Is the construction or alteration covered by this application considered necessary to correct a
circumstance that endangers a building, business, owner, or the public?

e/
X E\f\/ 3. Is the construction or alteration covered by this application considered permanent, to be in
place more than 90 days? (A temporary construction or alteration is required to be removed
v\/ within 80 days and the property is to be returned to the original or agreed upon condition.)

4. Has a permit been issued for any of the proposed work? Date: Permit No.
Has any work actually started? __ Describe:

Section Three

1. Will the construction or alteration covered by this application make a physical change to any
design elements, features, or finishes visible from the exterior of the property?

2. Will the construction or alteration covered by this application repair or replace an element of
the building or property with a material different from the original material of that element?

3. Will the construction or alteration covered by this application include painting exterior surfaces
that have not been previously painted?

4. Does the construction or alteration covered by this application include demolition or removal of
any part or element of the property visible from the exterior of the property?

X

5. Will the construction or alteration covered by this application make any change in the
appearance of the property as viewed from the exterior of the property?

Scope of Work Questions Verified By: \_4-?.”1“ \’J'\\’ )
Date of Verification: 5/7\6/)\5

< 39S
Certificate No. oY ~~5 =\ pate Submitted 57. 7*@.'/}‘*-'

Please Note: A Certificate for Alteration is valid for a period concurrent with the Building Permit granted for
the proposed work, or a period not to exceed 18 months.



S

—

CFA..25_1 6

119 S MAIN ST |

NEW ELECTRIC UTILITY POLE
& ASSOCIATED EQUIPMENT -

SUBIJECT PROPERTY

ZONING BOUNDARY







STAFF REPORT CERTIFICATE FOR ALTERATION

CASE SUMMARY

STAFF: Kevin Waller, Historical Preservation Officer / Senior Planner*ﬁV\/ CASE NUMBER: CFA-25-16

REPORT DATE: May 29, 2025

MEETING DATE: June 4, 2025

APPLICANT’S REQUEST: New electric utility pole and associated equipment

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Approval

CONDITION: Continue working with the City Electric Department and Public Works Department
throughout all stages of the project.

BACKGROUND DATA

APPLICANT: Alexander Scott, 3" Rock Electrical Contractors, LLC

OWNER: Terry Black, 119 Corner Main, LLC

SITE LOCATION: 119 South Main St.

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: Part of Lot 6, Block 19, Original Town of Lockhart

EXISTING USE OF PROPERTY: Vacant commercial building

PROPOSED USE OF PROPERTY: Commercial (bowling alley, billiards, and restaurant)
ZONING CLASSIFICATION: CCB (Commercial Central Business)

ANALYSIS OF ISSUES

PROJECT DESCRIPTION: The applicant proposes to install a new electric utility pole to support the electrical
needs of the future “Big Bob’s Bowling & Billiards” business for the subject property. The Commission
approved various improvements to the building for the new businessin November 2024. The new electric
pole will be located across West Market Street from the subject property, just east of an existing pole
positioned at the alley entrance behind the current Lockhart Chamber of Commerce storefront. A new
electrical conduit will connect the proposed pole to the rear, or west, end of the building on the subject
property, to run beneath and across West Market Street. The proposed design has been discussed with
both the Electric Superintendent and Public Works Director, who each support the project as proposed.
The Public Works Director has stated that a new pole on the south side of the street, near the existing
pole, helps to cluster impacts and avoids a new visual impact on the north side of the street. In addition,
the pole’s proposed location within the sidewalk will help to avoid conflicts associated with the new
parking spaces in the area as part of the downtown revitalization project. Please refer to the enclosed
photo renderings for further details.

COMPATIBILITY: With the electric pole’s proposed placement near an existing pole across the street from
the subject property and the placement of the conduit beneath West Market Street to connect to the
subject property, this project will minimize the visual impact to both the Courthouse Square Historic
District and the downtown revitalization project elements.

COMPLIANCE WITH STANDARDS: Although there are no design guidelines for the proposed project in the
Historic Districts and Landmarks Ordinance, the project is subject to approval of this Certificate for
Alteration and the issuance of building and electrical permits. In addition, Staff recommends that the
applicant continue working with the Electric and Public Works Departments as to their requirements, as
a condition of approval.

ALTERNATIVES: None necessary.






O ey weruy 18

o USR]

£ eenseiEmed A
kT oﬁ-wu..wge_..n_wp e




5/29/25, 11:55 AM Siemens General Duty 600 Amp 240-Volt Double Pole Outdoor Fusible Safety Switch GF226NRA - The Home Depot

#1 Home Improvement Retailer

vy 00
t&?} @ Kyle 10PM T 78640 g o8& A
SR

SW |, G@Kyle 10PM DT80 o o s DIV Login

Siemens (Brand Rating: 4.4/5) ©
General Duty 600 Amp 240-Volt Double Pole Outdoor
Fusible Safety Switch

AR AWK 2 v Questions & Answers (5)
- s conaey ft‘e{e&&
alv (e of Lalhn =

Hover Image to Zoom

+2

&> Share @ Print

https://www.homedepot.com/p/Siemens-General-Duty-600-Amp-240-Volt-Double-Pole-Outdoor-Fusible-Safety-Switch-GF226NRA/207185939 1/5



CFA-2°-\G

4
ff (512) 3983461 * FAX(512) 398-3833
- PO. Box 239 » Lockhart Texas 78644

T E X A S 308 West San Antonio Street

fi | CERTIFlCATE FOR ALTERATION APPLICATION
!

APPLICANT /| PROPERTY OWNER
APPLICANT NAME e gl s Ce 1 |
DAY-TIME TELEPHONE 2/ () =6 Y2~ 53 Locllie £/ K 75’44?[
B MAlL/?BSﬁ S/CJZ/ KE] o fpal (oM

OWNER NAME -Q/ [l - in,g appREss Z0% A/ /M =.h S /-
DAY-TIME TELEPHONE & [ 7~ 7f‘? /’ié Lockpat T

E-MAIL SCVQWB/Q Dm, . L 1% f'/lu (Srf‘ﬂt.fw-fg, Co/v]

PERSON BOINGORE, ik 80(;< [ c«lvaaf ESTIMATED COST g / Vi
PROPERTY

LEGAL DESCRIPTION O“~5 N Toun & Ledehaey, Blode \% gact of Loy~ @
aooress. 119D S M SE SONING CLESSIFIGATION Cc®

GENERAL INFORMATION

An approved Certificate for Alteration (CFA) is required by City Code for all signage, construction, alteration, or
modification of property designated as Historic, if such activities will change the architecture, design, finishes, or
outward appearance of a building, structure, object, site, area, or district, as viewed from the exterior (Ord. 93-19,
Sec. 11 and 12). A CFA is also required for interior work affecting load-bearing walls. A City Sign Permit and/or
City Building Permit may also be required by City Code. Only fully completed applications will be accepted.

PROJECT DESCRIPTION AND ATTACHMENTS

PLEASE INCLUDE PHOTOS OF THE PROJECT AREA WITH THE APPLICATION, AS WELL AS A DIAGRAM(S) OF

THE PROPOSED WORK WITH DIMENSIONS, MATERIALS, METHOD OF ATTACHMENT TO THE BUILDING (IF

APPLICABLE), TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS, ETC. THE DIAGRAM MAY BE HAND-DRAWN.  ALL

ATTACHMENTS MU? E IN 8. 5" X11"F (?Mlﬁ' PROVIDE A DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED WORK HERE:
-

o) Ll Y, O 0 Coutfert Elestul Requzttunfs of
e AL bule 7L Tﬂk( O Cr \)l/lO/ﬁ’le‘CM“@{/qﬂ?Cer/’frl St o buil 'H‘

.)Q:K ADDRESS 706 L /"7!(.(1

APPLICATION FEE OF $50.00, payable to the City of Lockhart Receipt Number: b 31’_603\

TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE, THIS APPLICATION AND ASSOCIATED DOCUMENTS ARE COMPLETE AND CORRECT,
AND IT IS UNDERSTOOD THAT | ANOTHER REPRESENTATIVE SHOULD BE PRESENT AT ALL PUBLIC MEETINGS
CONCERNING THIS APPLICATION.

—
: 1A -
APPLICANT SIGNATURE il DATEB e Z(

‘ -
PROPERTY OWNER SIGNATURE S% OwWNL S Q.W\-\\N\ y DATE
RN T B oA, AT Thad
HISTORICAL PRESERVATION COMMISSION APPRovRt DATE




CERTIFICATE FOR ALTERATION- SCOPE OF WORK QUESTIONNAIRE

This form must be completed by the applicant for a Certificate for Alteration. The Lockhart Historical Preservation
Officer (HPO) shall independently verify all information provided on the application and attached questionnaire. The
HPO shall review the application and this questionnaire in an expedient manner and notify the applicant of the outcome
of the review. Additional information may be needed to complete the application and review process. Final review and
action on the application for the Certificate for Alteration by the Lockhart Historical Preservation Commission in a public
meeting is required. Any required explanations to answers given shall be attached. The proposed improvements
represented on this application will be the limit of construction and alteration work undertaken.

Construction shall not begin prior to authorization by the approval of the Certificate for Alteration.

Yes No Verified SCOPE OF WORK QUESTIONS
Section One
N t..\"/ 1. Is this application for construction or alteration on or at a property which is in a gistoric District

or a City-designated Historic Landmark? What is its zcyg designation? (£

/ K v\/ Check one: Historic Landmark Historic District
m 2 . e ; ;

N . Is this application for any construction or alteration work that is NOT described or defined as
F ; VJ ordinary maintenance of a historic property? Is it more than limited “Ordinary Maintenance”?

3. Will the construction or alteration covered by this application include any work visible from the
exterior of the property?

m
AN
T

2

. Will the construction or alteration covered by this application remove or physically change any
structural elements of the property, (i.e. interior or exterior load-bearing walls, columns, posts,

foundations, footings, etc.)? U'H'H“T'N&’.

V\/ Section Two
o b 1. Is the construction or alteration covered by this application considered an emergency repair of
/ )/f sudden, accidental, or unforeseen property damage? When did damage occur?
e ¥ m{ 2. Is the construction or alteration covered by this application considered necessary to correct a
: v\/ circumstance that endangers a building, business, owner, or the public?
5%7 L KJ 3. Is the construction or alteration covered by this application considered permanent, to be in

place more than 90 days? (A temporary construction or alteration is required to be removed
within 90 days and the property is to be returned to the original or agreed upon condition.)

- Xr KJ’\/ 4. Has a permit been issued for any of the proposed work? Date: Permit No.
Has any work actually started? __ Describe:
\'\/ Section Three
k( - t’ 1. Will the construction or alteration covered by this application make a physical change to any

K design elements, features, or finishes visible from the exterior of the property?
W 2. Will the construction or alteration covered by this application repair or replace an element of
the building or property with a material different from the original material of that element?
K Qﬂ 3. Will the construction or alteration covered by this application include painting exterior surfaces
v/ that have not been previously painted?

4. Does the construction or alteration covered by this application include demolition or removal of
any part or element of the property visible from the exterior of the property?

&
*
3

. Will the construction or alteration covered by this application make any change in the
appearance of the property as viewed from the exterior of the property?

Scope of Work Questions Verified By: Kw# ~ \’\] '\“*&.K
Date of Verification: __ S/ A/ XS

Gertificate No. C¥A - R5-\G Date Submitted =7 N\/ =5

Please Note: A Certificate for Alteration is valid for a period concurrent with the Building Permit granted for
the proposed work, or a period not to exceed 18 months.



Kevin Waller

From: Terry Black <terry@blackfamilyinvestments.com>
Sent: Wednesday, May 21, 2025 7:46 PM

To: Alexander Barret Scott

Ce: Scott Wieland; Kevin Waller

Subject: Re: Owner authorization needed

This email originated from an external sender. Please exercise caution before clicking on any links or attachments.

Hi Kevin:
| am out of town until Monday.

Alexander Scott has my authorization to act on my behalf regarding the Market Street electrical pole for
the bowling alley building.

Please call me if you need more information. 512-376-8840
Thank you,
Terry Black
On Wed, May 21, 2025 at 4:55 PM Alexander Barret SCOtt < i:us3rdio ek s CoN> Wrote:
Good day Mr. Black. Alexander here. Working on the bwloing altey utility pole with the historic district.
And city. They are needing your authorization or signature on some paperwork. For the application I’'m
working on. If you don’t mind responding at your convenience
Thank you.
Thank you!
Alexander Barret Scott
3rd Rock Electrical Contractors LLC.

210-643-3397

Abs@3rdRockElectrical.com



CITY OF

i é ﬁ (512) 398-3461 » FAX (512) 398-5103
Oé_;,j:(_“u Lﬁ” L, P.0. Box 239 » Lockhart, Texas 78644
TE S 308 West San Antonio Street

TO: Lockhart Historical Preservation Commission

FROM: Kevin Waller, Historical Preservation Officer / Senior Planner K\’\/
SUBJECT: Fabric Awnings (Agenda ltem 6)

DATE: May 29, 2025

Agenda Iltem 6: Discuss the possibility of prohibiting fabric awnings in the Historic District.

During a previous Commission meeting, certain members requested that an item be added to the agenda
of a future meeting to discuss the possibility of prohibiting fabric awnings in the Courthouse Square
Historic District, due to their lack of aesthetic appeal and lack of historic compatibility in relation to
suspended metal canopies. Staff has subsequently reviewed historical photographs of the Square
(enclosed), and has observed that metal canopies were the predominant feature on many buildings from
the early 1900’s to the 1950’s. According to a publication from the National Park Service published in
2004 (enclosed), metal canopies, especially aluminum, became widespread in the 1950’s, with fabric
awnings more prevalent prior to that time period, originally being introduced in the mid-19t" century.
Lockhart appears to be somewhat of an anomaly, as metal canopies were the most prevalent at least as
early as the beginning of the 20™" century as noted above. With regard to awning material type, canvas
was historically the most typical material, with either a solid or striped color scheme. In addition,
individual awnings over individual doors and windows was a common characteristic for both commercial
and residential buildings. The typical minimum distance between the projecting awning edge and the
curb of the street below was between one and two feet. In summary, both awnings and canopies are
considered historic, with awnings predating canopies in the evolution of building features. The

Streetscape Guidelines for Historic Commercial Districts, published in 2011 by the Texas Historical

Commission (enclosed), echoes the historic nature of both canopies and awnings.



Historical Photo #3

Winter scene, 1909

Source: Reagan, Ronda A., “Lockhart: Images of America”, page 43
Original source: Caldwell County History Center

wAww\kD Q,%Ww\i\&_,_s ‘%rwa \909 —_
5:.“&3‘4\,\ /\S\o\‘:n 5”\"(’—(}#’



Historical Photo #4

pres—

West side of Square, looking south, W. H. Lewis & Co., 1915-1925
Shows roofed balcony

Sources:
Historical Lockhart, then and now by Zona Adams Withers, page 10, Briscoe F394 L78 W573
A Pictorial History: Remembering Lockhart's first 150 years, 1852-2002, page 25

- A‘\rf f\h\:’j R+¥ xm\?\béd CAC cs \-9\ S-\9%Ls5 -

b g‘-’\"}\”’\r\ [\r\ﬂ\.\ ~ 5 lr c %5\



Historical Photo #6

o

it

Tl srbonnebininl bhvoe st lonson o s s i Sy

Aerial view, 1921-1923

Source #1: Reagan, Ronda A., “Lockhart: Images of America”, page 64
Original source: Eugene Clark Library

\
- A»JV\‘\CJ dewmﬁ\&é\) Catod L2 A\~ \9 L3 —

Soonn Maza Srcect



~Aw sy = -~ (3\45 Lrewn

- Q Nl.kcw:\\n ou\'l‘\‘_\ /’\‘\Q)x—d\\ e

. Courthouse (Jigures 1.20)

Cdail (Figure 0

First Christian Church (Figure o)
. St. Mary's Church ([izures -l

. Vegel Block (Fiunres 11 12)

mmo 0D P

Masur Block ([ixirios I2-154)

N2 VRCHTTECTERAL RECORD WA RCH 10

This s @ r‘lj:llil) which evades ooy bmediate dieli-
nition: but often o the <sharp light and the vacand
Fandscapre of e West rchiteetual detail swill seem
to nehieve an almost archaie ity o that the moest
tawedey sadoon ar inerusted Talse fagade may acquire
portentons distinetion: while whole towns fonnded no
carlior than the "sivties coneaude an [ationn evidenee
ol aee. For these reasons, for the ssympathetie traveler
Urah will evobe mienaories of Tuseany s Virginin Cily,
Newada will appear a0 19th-centores - Lrbino: while
<ch mining cities as Leadville, Colorado, Caeson City,
Nevadin or Globe, Arizono, will seem as mgquestionably
as Giubbio or Siera to Teve abways ocenpied the Tand,
Like the eities of Ui thes are potent ssmbobs of
arhanity s e Dike these ey beeome more definite,
more surprisingls ey stadline o the mind. by reason of
the enaplitess thronzhowhich they are approsched.

How el of the present suseeptibility to these
Lownis s mereh oostaleies Tow muel is pure hadluer
pation. and ow moeh corcesponds to o readity it s
ditlicult to judge. Their bnildines are scareely inhibited
I either taste or enltires were inrprovised apparently
without thonght. seem 1o be the embodiment of 2
popular architeetural consciousness and preseat them-
selves to the eves of the present day as e dinal and
the comprehensive monments ol an heroie aze But
although it s by qualities sucl as these that Miss
Stein's proposition is wiven substance, one liesitates
to esemplify it by thene alones These western mining
selllements are alter all too hizare to prove o poinl,
Uhne recocnizes in et buildings o pecaliar combination
ol goad sense and ointeze, of foree and naiveté: but one
really demands that these clivacteristios he embodiced
i o more completels Dy pieal sitaadion.

Iis here that, as aquite stereoly ped oeban patten.
the American comrt house town might he introdueed
as o more represenbative dlostration. X completely
normal and widely distriboted Uy pes seattered throngh-
ant the northern states, consistently reearring through-
ot the =outh. il is scareely the product of any deliber
ately eapressed taste and vel one asstmes ils repe-
ition was dnspived by more than mere: habit, Fos
patentiy this s o town dedicated T ansideas and s
seheme s neither Tortuitons nor whimsical. The theme
ol centradized courthonse i central square s o
Should e bamal ones Aod ks o Fael one al gveal



power. For these conethonse squares are ol the resi-
dentinl enclosures ol Enclod, nor ke the piazzias of
Fealy do thes admit the chorehs e presidine role,
Flere it i thie fw s hich assumes o public significanes:
and i< around the seeabo baee of the law, Tike
architectaral illasteations ol o political principle. that
these towns revolves Tooeach case the conrthonse s
Lothe visual Toeus and social cuaeantee: and i cach
squnre the veality of covernment made formally es-
plicit provides the continuing assurance ol arder.
There is henee o cuvious decormmn about these Towns
which. however v down thes micht often b are apt
to displiy anair ol senerality. Urbanistie: phenomena
they palpably aves bt thes are also the cinblens of o
political theory A poechy arehitectural expericnee of
their squanres s theeefore never possibles Within these
erclostres the obseryver can never disentangle his
aesthetic respotise from his reaction as asocial animal
They are the fovers of o repoblican ceremonial. and
theit uncampromised Torne neatly condenses all the
inponderables of vepoblican principles. TCis the almost
clussical Cypicality, the emblematic signilicanee. anul
the completely adequate symbolisme ol these towns
that is responsible for their seeming antiquity.

The plice of origin ol the Tope s presumably amadter
of aeadernie duterest, but dbis just possible that s
place of enlmination s incentral Texas: There ot
Jeast, since the comparative absence of trees disen-
cimbers the sehieme from camond e, one can never he
wnaware of it Foether west the central courthonse
cocmns searcely to have beena viable matifs hut i
Tevas, where the brillinee of the atmosphere ifts
the most modest architectoral statemenl Lo new po-
tential, the dded hecomes completels elarified: ad for
Uie unprejudiced exes the eve which s willing toosee,
o number of small towns do o present themselves as
very minor trinmphs of urbanily.

Llano, Lannpasas. Gainesville, Belton, Georgelowi,
ockbart, and others are all as mueh the same as so
iy French medieyal bastides, 1410 i< not the sight
ol o water Tower, the first indication of arvival at one
of them s apt Lo be the conrthouse which appears,
from adistanee of several miles,as the slightest crnplion
apon e horizon: Without major incident the -
seape s anrolled itself for mile adter mile wilh an
almost complete necation of picturesque effect. Ad

imirable, vncompromising, repetitive, restrained. mo-

aotonous. subtle, and onvaried i is o seenically under-
Furnished and magnilicenthy extinusting display which
nithes the minimum o overbures o the spectalor,
Without watural punctoation and withoot natoral
relicf, it debilitales the eve:
cacsuri i an endlessh continensd scheme the distand

<o that as anartilicial

view ol the conrthouse acgquires o peenlion signilicanee.
[Eis dike s ship seen oo madeocean an evidenee of
amenity, and o kind ol momaonental magnet which
sectns Lo impose progeessive nlriciey as the town is
approached.

As a Torme of cinotional complement 1o the inder-
meinable tevraing the nrpact of these four-squire, geo-
metrical, concentrie ke towns is diseovered to be one
ol rearhable intensits . They B e adlb ol them, soe-
thing of the angualified decisivenesss the disng et
colierence ol architectinal modelss and serupuloushy
veculor, they appeie almost more than real towns, 1o
b small cities in pritgitive paintings, Something of
Hcir interest derives Tram their conformity, bt within
the aceepted pattern innumerable viriations are 1o be
found. Tn one town beick will predominates in aoother
stone or stuceo: inoone plave taste will he meager, in
another claborate: but i all ol these places, as o
common denominator ol expericnee, there will be Telt o
dislocation of the sense ol thne. The huildings by
which one s surrounded will appear 1o be ageless:
while the insistentlhy vepeated comthonse and sgoare
will unavoidably suggest some Repaissanee exercise to
demonstrate the ideal sienilicance of perspeclive,

As o representiative o these towns at their best
one might seleet Lockbart, whose exaberant, more than
usaally brilliant courthouse is apl o suggest that some
provineial disciple of Richaod Noris Thunt's had dis-
covercd the irresistible Fascination of Leonardo’s studies
for domical buillings  (Figures 1020 The lirst view
of the town allords the characteristio visual come
petition. T approaching from the south the dominand
intricacies of courthornse sithonette strogele for at-
tention with the aluaimnn painted spheroid ol the
wialer tower: and o concentration ol inferest ot
cither is furether distarbed by the appearance 1o the
viehit of o small castellated building ol curiously Van-
broghian profile. N o forte beiek and machicolied,
pactly Bomanesque ad pacthy Halinde, evidently

ARCHITECTTT R BEC ok W ARCH 16T 203



2011

ARCHETECTE B A

Hlconn

Wake iun,

the jaile s disrning sel-assuranee <ets the mood
Tor the entive town Frgure 3

Asa preface to the avchitectural promenade of Lock-
hart this Tittle jail honse conld not e more appro-
prisctes and s one s Ted Gmperatively frome it towards
the RTINS il becories apparent that eapechiations lave
not beens vaised too hich, The conrthouse s auuressive,
bhall aned ceasonmably Dok the sopsre itsell is o more
discreet combination of <tuceas white paint. and Tondinn
ved biebe withe heve aoad these o intrading east-iron
colimm supplving o corlain tmported and Corinthinn
clegance. However, as e recovers from the <hock
Al the suane’s conteal arnament. 10 hecomes apparent
Chat some of these toinos buildings e ol i themsely es
andemanstrative, and the presence o aninlermpled
staceato ol dishinetly assertive stracthies inposed
upon the cenerally recessive bockeronnd cradially be-
comes evident, Teas particulorhy along the north and
wesh sides of the square that these more individn-
alistic: buildings are concenteated (Figures 40 60 and
especially ot the junetion of these two sides that e
presenee ol three white-painted  cables of  uneqoal
height and width soon demands attention Figore 50

From  this nothwest angle of the square anothe
phise of Lockhart's architectural evolution is vevealed.
A short block Tined by <ot commiereial buildings
leads to o chreh tower sonne 300 feet away . The IFiest
Christion Choeeh 1o which it belongs is as minisenle
as the pal (Frgure 700 N evelesinstical represcntilive
ol the Bichardsoniom subuvbon world of the “vighities,
diting from 18980 like the buildings o the square,
il seems o have been pat tozether frome the standared
clemients provided by o boy of brichs, But the First
Christion Churchis seavechy able to detain the obseryer,
sinee three Dlocks down the street another disposition
of elirel amd spire present< =l

This is St Mary s a0 prodoet of Trish and German
Catholicisime o buildine of oranee brickwork velieved
|1\ lll'ii‘lx ol }l'”l_l\\ (31} :i-'s'|:('| reil :1|||| |;|'|';|\i|;||;|||§'
cheekered, as for fnstanee o the tower, witl a pattern
al” greenist qray headers mres N0 10, S \|;||‘_\'5
ix nol so ambitions o building as the other: bl s
detanils are less ambiguons aol more delicate, its madel-
ing condident and distivianishied, its Gothic both Iyrical
and straneely firmg with something of the ceonomy of
achilds deawing of o chreh, T as with <hock that



i
4]
2

RS B

R
DA

TR

n i

o
e

R

one discover =t Narys to have been erected o 1918,

The commmon <cnse of metrapolitin Hine s severely
Jolted by this imprabable Faets That this diminutive
monent ol vnassooiog pictby shoold beonine vears
NOget than the Hobie Hoose, should |u|‘-|—£i:|||'
Coropins” Woerkbond Boildive by fonr searss iiposes
g sober o corio=itby owhinch leads one too exsmioe with
deference the butldines :li(w:ll'} [|E|-\11| v, These. the
stractures dnediately preceding Hhe First Clhivistion
Chureln are e Nogel Block to the sonth ol the street
and the Mas<ue Boaldimes to the north, The Vozel Bloek
i~ the tiest 1o demsnd attention Fguees T DPated
1005, frvested by the heavy frieze-hike elaboration ol
ils rool e swilthe o msgestic: seriotsness, alinost o
floating prisni il scems Too sbond o transitional
|‘:-|;||én||~|;i'- lll'l\\l‘l‘!l HI*' ]'lHEll“Il',JM lill ||I|' s .'Ili(l
thiose aeross the streel, Nocawareness ol singhe valume,
a osense ol the bovtzontal, cod o feeliong for the signibi
catiee ol the steactural bay coe ol cmerecent e the
Vavel Block. o the Masue Buadddioes thes have come
tor contral The entive desien CF fgares 13 Hhrongh IS

The Vason Paildines covtending also along the ad-
‘i.u'r“! sl ll"f'.f,UHr 13 represend the  altimale
achievement o the conmmercial aechitecture ol Lock
et Foeceted o variety of dates down to 1915, exeepl
for the Jo Masure Buiddhng Frgures T 15, 165 they are
more avessedhy bl than wonld carhier lave been
Hhouelil propet. and olsoomore classieal, T thenn Hhe
cpisadic detail which chaneterizes Hie square is no
loneer Tolerated, the rool meident which shll sarevives
in the VYouel Block s ~I|1||1|'|<~\~.r||. and the Illlll‘. itler-
vaption of their regalin sithauettes s provided by the
chunh~ of brichwork swhich Torm a0 capping o the
thin |Ii|i<~|t'| ~|l'i||- ol their Facades, Fhe three Laildines

deross Hie street Trome the Vouzel Block arve laree
sttples and distinet wnits cFigares P throngh 1IN
andeed b ipe=story clements, they read as a0 scheme
ol independent and vavied pavilions, all manifesting the
new ddeal of congruity, which s now seen Lo acgquire
a o decisive ('\|I|l“-\ilill i the tast ol the series. e Jo
Masar Buildine. Theres subordinated 1o a controlling
cridh of strine conrses and pilasterso i simplificd. almost
abstracted, form, arches aod all the :|t'|‘|'p5:|ll|l' Cofn-
ponents of a0 clissival desicn are Tused inta a0 singde
staterenl of sorprising inlensily

This Hrer-Hoor hardware <tore, with all the cone

segener of o ostadl-town Tl |1.‘||.|t‘|'. andd the more

fontastic Vozel Bloeh confront cach other across the
street with o certain defiond andividuality . The First
Christinn Church 1Ii'|'||}|il"\ anolher corner, The Catholie
clivrel as sull o sighis Nnd oo wround, the per-
spective of the caelier buildives cod of the north side
of the square almost comnpletes o survey ol series
ol ;|||||s|;'(-r|l|) related stevetures. 1 i ot ITRRIECHT R
Focibemize their resemblivnees: They are inc themselves
aoconyincing argument of thev velionship: and stand-
e between theme ther mteiosie reasonableness, Hien
anthenticity, their nnsophisticated strength, even then
by ions weahness coase oo anbomatieally to presue
the existenee ol some promoimeed arbistie personality.
somne architeet, or more prolably sioee his is il
architeets” architecture, some binkder, Fhis |w|mn|;||ii}
viapid iy tahes slape, oo anboow s bat oot an indelinite
ficuve. o mmster balder, o0 Mastor o Loekhaet, whom
one couips withe e attvibintes one feels e shoalid pos-
sess e ansubyerted datesritb aninmale capacity,
tastes whicl arve uneornplicated sond definite, an under
standing ol necessity . N Tor some moments w0
strong s The light cod <o extreme the healt e
Mister of Lockhart renains completels plansible,

Bt stabborndy, this ddeally anonymons, quasi-
miedieval chivacter whom one las educed reluses 1o
Fake <hiape, The Naster of Lockbant resists Tornalation
sy e Tadecd, was Hhene e or were there several
Masters? Was the avelintecl of the Cathiolic churels
also the arehiteet of the Jo Nasin Building? Was the
sitene i f'l'\]lllll\illlt‘ for the Nocel Bloek s the
Jil Appaventhy soch questions are surprising s dillicalt
to sabisty and perhaps also they aore irrelevant, beeanse
presuntably it s the elernad poobiden of primitive arl
vather than the eternal problene of personality which
is raised by these vers ecent haildings, They are
stroctures which persanadly coe finds deeply satisfae-
tory s and setowith any cornvic Hone one cannol attribute
Lo their desizoer o desvelaped o o conscions aestheli
intention, aod cortaindy ot the mtention to produoes
the results ol which one i most deeply appreciative
Secn dispassionatelys these boildies are atilitirian
strnctores costally endivened Dy o elementary eelectic
svinbolisme deriving something of their efleet Trom
concentration and material aoiformity . Bul it is now
impossible and meiningtoss to disiniss them as Hhis

ARCHITECTURN. Bleniy W IRCH 1957 205



alone: e terms of o oot anduly sentimental taste they
Bive toteinsic victues of o hich order. while anly 1oo
obyviousty theirexteinsic attributes aee evenmore telling

Forty sears avos when the magority of them were
new and some were sHEanbailt, 10 was such o town as
Lochhart that reduecd the hieroine of Ve Stree! to
ancintolerable disteesss 1 was wod ondy e s puaring.
et piodaged e vgliness wed eigid straighlness™ which over-
whelmed Bevs nor the et thad = doall the Town ol o
breileding scve e oo ek save pleasure o hier eyes:
bt it was hoildings “erowned widh balllenients and
pveamids of hrick capped wdbe red sandstone™  which
really promoted her disoiny, and 00 was o place of
these that “she saw a new Ceorgian Toene s graceful
and beloved ws Vonapolis oo or Weaandria” " She
see io Gapher Praieie.”” Lewis Lells use “a Ceorginn
ciiv hall, warne hrick walls witle white shodlers:a fonlight,
o ietde heddl and enreing staie, She saw i as e conmon
home o (espieadion ool ondy of the foen bod of The
conndy abont”and 00 was by Lintasies sueli s these
that she softened  Tor hersell the oo haeshe vealily
ol conntes which aspived o suceved 1o Viclorian
f'.'rfg,ll'uml [ Hu' l'hf'.v‘_f' rm‘rl‘fm'f‘f’_\' flf le' Hit h’

I the years that haave interyened the neo-Georgian
dream has receded. and s Victorio Fogland Tas be-
come less medioere, <o 1Oh-contury Nmerica has be-
come less abirasive, For many observers its towns have
nat vel beeorme “as gracefal and befared as Vnnapolis.”
bt theie " rigid steaighliess” ot least hos become a
positive values while = thee batllenents wned pevaniids of
briek™ Tonve become even more evaocative Than their
Faneli<h equivalents: Thes are nove the indications of
aselfzcanscionsness as set unimpaired by sophisticated
inlerionits o doubt, the distingnishing ks ol w0
Forme of post-frontier architecture, 11 is a0 puileless
architecture which, becanse mnocent. is olten appae-
cothy venerahle s and which, becanse one may believe
i to e uncorrapled, s sometimes curioushy eloquent.,
Whens s ol Lockbart, it is combined with a city plan
as entively legitimate as thal of the conrthouse Towin:
whenoas theresaspontaneous ond comprehensible arehi-
tecture Hourishes inoa complementars relationship with
aoprinciple ol authorits s then we are b the presence,
not ol an amusing specimen of - Nmericana, but ol an
cxernpliry urbanistic sucecess whose meaning has heen
for too long obscured.

206 ARCHITECTE RAL RECORD MW AARCH 950

16, 17,18




PRESERVATION

BRIEFS

The Use of Awnings on Historic Buildings:
Repair, Replacement, and New Design

Chad Randl

National Park Service
U.S. Department af the Inte

Hertage Preservation Seiaca

A\ shnph'&.‘pw rolls out an awning at the beginning of the
workday; a family gathers under a porch awning ona
late summer afternoon. These are tamiliar and compelling,
images of earlier urban and residential hte in Aimerica

For two centuries, awnings not only plaved an important
functional role, they helped detine the visual character of
our streetscapes. Yet, compared o historic photographs,
of downlowns and neighborhoods soth mvriad awning:
todav’s streels often seem plain and colorless

Throughout their history, awnings have had great appeal
Along with drapes, curtains, shutters, and blinds they
provided natural climate control i an age before air
conditioning and tinted glass. By blocking, out the sun's
rays while admitting davlight and allowing air to circalate

between interior and exterior, they were remarkably
efficient and cost effective. Awnings permitted window-

shopping on rainy davs: they protected show window
displavs from fading due to sunlight. On the primary
facade and neareye level, they were central to a building s
appearance. Manufacturers came up with attractive,
attention-getting awnings featuring distinctive stripes,
ornate valances and painted lettering and logos, With a
wide range of colorand patten choices, owners could
select an awning that complemented the building and pet
both style and function in a relatively affordable package
(Figs. 1 and 2)

In recent vears, building owners and others interested
in historic buildings have rediscovered awnings. Local

T
Fieure |

Photo of Lartmer Street, Denver, Colovado, ¢ 1870, Denoer Publi

Storefront aromings over stdviealks and enlrances were typicar

sof American streclseepes for ol of the 198 and 20th centuries

1 Western History Collection, v-02iihs



1 to flres

Fror s 7
Figure !

Arihnes we
:

iy e ad istingqs

O

(&l il

homes of virbually any styl
1920

lumimy f
brochure, (

“main street” preservation programs encouraging
in some cases funding—rehabilitation work have
helped spur the awning s return. Continued concern
over energy efficiency have also persuaded building

}

owners and developers to use awnings to reduce hea

gain, glare, and cooling cosls Breause awnings werc

so common until the mid-tsventieth century, they ane

visually appropriate for muany lustoric buitdings, unli

some other means of encrgy conservalion

Fhis Preservation Briel prrovides
historical backgronund
information about divers
awning applications in the
United States; suggests wa
that historic avwnings can best
be maintained, repaired. and
preserved; and recommoends
the varying civcumstances in
which replacement in kind

\

<

or new awning design may
be appropriate tor historic
buildings.

Historical Background

Awnings are remarkable
building teatures that have
changed little over the course
of history. Records dating
back to ancient Egypt and
Syria make note of woven
mats that shaded market stalls
and homes. In the Roman
Empire, large retractable
fabric awnings sheltered the
seating areas of amphitheatres
and stadiums, including the
Coliseum. The Roman poet
Lucretius, in 50 B.C., likened
thunder to the sound that
“linen-awning, stretched, o'er
mighty theatres, gives forth al
times, a cracking roar, when

FEiE

Early 19th ¢«

3

Phot

Y

alidi

't

much ‘tis beaten about, betwixt the poles and cross-
beams.” Over the nest two millennia awnings appeared
throughout the waorld while the technology used in thei

construction changed hittle
Awnings in the 19th Century

When awnimgs bogan o commonly appear on American
storefronts—cluring the fiest half of the 19th century
thev were simple, often improvised, and strictly
atilitarian assemblies The basic hardware consisted ot
timber or cast-iron posts set along the sidewalk edg
md linked by afront cross bar (Fig. 3). To lend support
led rafters linked the front
cross bar tothe building facade, The upper end of the
canvas was connected (o the facade with nails, with
grommets and hooks, or by lacing the canvas to a head
rod bolted to the facade. The other (projecting) end of
the canvas was draped over, or laced to, a front bar with

tol e mstallitions

the edge often hanging down to form a valance. On
. ornate examples, metal posts were adorned with filigre

nd the tops decorated with spear ends, balls or other

embellishments. On overcast days or when rain did

L

wl threaten, the covering was often rolled up against

the building tacade: during the winter months propes

maintenance called for the removal and storage of

I aicnings feaht

vred catoos coverngs shietched between the butlding focode

s bars were ot common unhil later i
Phato Collection, The Free Library of

spork




Awning Vocabulary

roller window awning

valance /

dro
P roller

i o

valance

projection

fixed pipe frame

PR e e gy :

1}:,;1: \ il front-bar

611:]1:“ e x
Ly | head-rod [l i
el ] gy
: ! rafter -

FOller srememps -

B AT A G A &
LTI IS4
i § 74
i b’ 7 4
SN B
i I
T

fixed-arm awning

extension arm

slide rod

gearbox

extended

retracted




avennes, Photographe trom the micd=1800s often show

the bare frameworh, sueoesting that the covering was

vstencded onlv wien necessary, Canvas duck wa

predominant awning Labre (Foes 40 A strong Closehy

ven cotton Cloth w=ad Tor cenluries to make tents arnd
Cortvas i vers=attie matenal with a relatively short

|
Nvspan compensaled tor by ks [ow cosl

wnngs became o common teatuare in the viears
after the Civil W lrom plumbing, pipe, which was
quuickly adaptod tor cvning rrames, became w TRIBILL
avatlable and aftordatsle a5 a result of mid-century

industrialization. 1t was a natura! material for awnin

ramies, casily bent and threaded together to make

vesire 4 This TSUX witao s [he cantis e 1o W ol fary ranee of different ~hapes and sizes (Fig. 53 AL the sanu
; ! 1 s SCHUY ‘
g wenifactierer. The wade varety of custon spzes and shy Lime he advernd of the <teamship forced canvas nulls
|
i B nabirad Shriikalyg '_“ sl ! and sal makersto scarch tor new markets, Anawning
VST IR taliindy { ' [t Vslri L.i

mdustry developed otenng an array of frame and fabric

aptions sdaptable o both storefronts and window:

Operable Awnings, [ the second half of the 19th
century, manufactured operable awnings grew in

popalarity (Fg. o1 Previously, most awnings had fixed

tr the primary wvay o relract the covering was o

up the ralters b hand. Operable systeass for both

storetront and wirndow awnings had extension arms that

were hinged whers jomed the facade. The arms

sere lowered 1o proect the aw LIS O ratsed to redract

EIe awining using, siple rope and pullev arrangements
Because the canvas remmained attached to the frameword
retractable awnings ellowed a maore flexible approach to
shacing "-"llr_’-kl", e md oswners could incrementally
adjust the amount o awning coverage Lil‘i'-l.‘!\LiflrL: upon
the weeatherconditions,. When the sun came out from

behind clouds, the awning could be deployed with ease

L5ia s e

In case of sudden torms, owners could quickly retract
e LTS T 1

the avwniesg against the building wall where it was

i) el of Hre [ET cenbery, Feat plaan prole ted front wind stusds

1y ! initer i f ] It

jd il ' o Is arprend e LR ¢ Bud the carly aoerable an UnEs had their own

IHH (0O Phote! Litrary of Conere Yinls anid tad £ i

& g e e drawbacks, When retracted, the covering on early
) ) i 1 i it T Ve :

aperable awnings bunched up against the building

focade whoere itwas still P takly L‘\}‘\\‘l':l 18]

nclement weather, (In fact, detenoration was
aften aceelerated as moisture pooled in the fabric

UL

folds) Al=o the retracted fabric ofter

a porlton of the window or door opening and

undess 1t was tolded carefally, presented an

HRReMPt appearanc

Hiy i vty i (S8
eeali i iy ! | w0 o
f i i prosed i !
: f Ff of Feasm W
) ri F ' I shy
e ' [ 1




Roller Awnings, Addressing the drawbacks ot th
\l:t;.:lzl.li ]'.u‘l,:l-d AWHIHNGL, DY TOHSE W Ings e e
wood or metal evlinder around which the canvas wa

stored when the awning was retracted. When tully

redracted, onty the valance was visebde (Fio 700 The
rotler was usually bolted teea bPackboard set azamst th
building and protected benvath a woodd or gaiy al

)
muetal hood. Insome cases it was mistalled inoa rece
Lo built into the facade. A long detachable handle
tealled a “winding brace”), or a gearb

attached to the building, was nsed G

Sonwe later moduels were operated by ¢

e, USSP taliv those on wndos

Kol QW TUTLES
contained aspring that helped retract the s oing and

wept the canvas Tram sageing excess ol

Viost 149th century roller awmnges had fived arms That
were similar fo those tound on the carluer operable

awnings. The arms hinged tlush to the building swhen

the awning was retracted and, with the help ot gravit

traightened out over the sidewalk when extended

When a storefront avening's projection eaceeded s dn
e more than a tool, its long armes werne conmected 1o
an adiustabli slide rod rather than binged directy to
the building facade - increasing head raom alone
| W (B B

sidewalk (Fig

Nt o ai\nms'_; variety o availabl

Shapes and Stripes.
canvas colors, patterns, and valanoe shapes o
apprared daring this penod. Sone coverings v
dved a solid color; shades of =late, tan, and groen wen
especially popular thers had painted stnpes on
the upper surface of the catnvas, Awning companices

developed a colorful vocabulary ab awning stipes o

3
Ll
s
=
2
]
§

1T

it The sodlee dwir anl ¢ cr el @ frxed=Gnm Ry s Cranked
/ iho fuly Xe i [
I i i ! " | ! i i
f ERATLL it M
I ! et ith i 1ud
Wlien 4 QIS o I ¥ f ttees of Hhe arks travel 1)
iy pHided S e errenln 1A ':4."1'!! CxEend ¢

enthanced the decorative schemues of balddings, and in
st coases, served asoa building's primary decorative

featurne (T, )

[he Broader choree ¢t drame and canvas ophions

cncouraged the reassewsment of awnings simply

as A eans o provide shelter front rain and sun
Homeowners found that the new generation of awnings
could enhance exterior paint schemes and increase the
visual appeal of their homes, Manutacturers develaped
new awning shapues, colors, patterns, and hardwuare

to it difterent house, doon window and porch styles
(Fig. 105 They were an attordable, quick and simple
improvement. They also proved Lo be an casy means

of capturing outside space  Homeowners coutd use

awning covered balcomes, porches and patios at

any timae ot day; groceny stores were able Lo convert
stdewalks o owtdoor displav areas |‘h¥h‘\‘|l'l.| from
sunfight and quick changes in the weather. On Main

2

Street, businesses used the evpanded repertoire ot
awnines to deaw attention to their buildings with brigh

colars, whimsical steape patterns and exotic scallogps



Freure 9. Aqvide selection of steiped patterns took the aie

beyond s original, wtilitarvion function o serve us o

dpeaingg

e Diois

wetograg

Awnings increasingly functioned as signs identitying
the proprictor’s name, goods on offer, or vear of

establishment, It was a trend that would culminate ove

acentury later with avwnmng installations in which <helte

was secondary to advertisement (Fig. 11)
Awnings in the 20th Century

Awning development during the early twentieth centu
focused on improving operability. Variations in roller
awnings addressed the need to provide an increasingly
customized product that accomodated a wide range of
storefront configurations and styles

New folding-arm awnings appeared that operated vithe
vertically or horizontally supplementing the fised - arm
awnings developed in the latter 19th century. Vertical
folding arms were made up of smaller hinged arny
that crossed like scissors. Operated by gravity the aom:
extended outward pulling the covering ott the rolles
Like a fixed-acm awning, the pitch of this scssors-typ.
awning varied depending on whether it was tully o
only partially extended (Fig. 12). Somewhat ditterent
was the “lateral arm awning” o horizontallv operating
awning that worked like a human elbow with the spring

action in the arms pushing outward toward the streel

NG
s T
[y w ke ﬁ\‘
i LR i)
7 e -y
' | ¥
3
4 ¥ - “
§ i
) 4
~puare Tog eann-cirel I 1t « v
Prgwore 10 The expanding a Cle
cret fabric for coery L 0
icenbiry caladog titstral ! L
i FE Al 4 n frE. Awreong- were fypteally set wnt!
T

- — 4 ——r e .
A GOQD PLACE 10 EAT )| [CATTERIA) | PSHOES NIFSHOES THAT WEAR 11|
S T

e - - -
LY N A,

¢ ‘e L
o) . - T P
/BN it s )

A 7 t K

‘ A
o At Y6 i 4@‘ e Ak

¥/ So0-L1c10U S

|PURE HOMEMADE CANDIES (CE CREAM|  |cF CREAM | CANDIES Yuneheenetls: ICES

BT T A T T S T T T T

S\ o o -
L re

4

N\
N

o

S '-/, , p \ k %
q! fevendon L NE OO Y o

i g—
4
e i -

LADIES READY TOWEAR |MILLINERY| |vrOLOENN  STEAKS a

NAL AN SN I\,JI\ f,\ IN P

w CHOPS

W'Y
«:-l.‘}
MR
DOGS

E?ne Sy ?,'wm‘;ﬂ:[i"'iﬂl;as' BAR'B-Q- | FACE FILLING STATION
room M .

fy 20tk century catalog shows letiering

pinercial awnings, Imag

unfurling the cover trom the roller and maintaining
tension. Lateral-arm awnings teatured a shallow drop
that remained relatively constant regardless of how far
the arms were extended (Fig, 13). Operable awnings,
whether fixed arny, scissors arm, or lateral arm, rapidly
gained popularily as customers came to appreciate the
Hlexibiity, concealed appearance, and longer lifespan
made possible by voller units,

New Coverings. Slower to change was the fabric used
to cover awnings. Canvas duck remained the common
awning fabric during the tirst half of the 20th century.
However, its tendency o stretch and fade, and its
susceplability tomildew, and flammable materials hke
cigarettes and matches motivated the awning industry
to search foralternatives. Shortly after World War 11,
avinyl plastic coatmyg, that increased fade and water
resislance was first applied to the canvas. By the 1960,
vinvl resing, acrvlic libers and polyester materials wer
all "l'ifl:;" used to |RALRAY ide a ]l?l]}‘,{‘l"ld‘l“l1“.§ W nin;.', COVEerL.
ronically, just when these innovations promised more



durable awnings, the b awning industry felt the
rmpact of changing architectural Tashion, the widespread
adoption of airconditivenng, and the increasing

availability of aluminum wnings

Modersusm dominated commercial architecture during,

the postwar era. The style's signature form-——austere

o os—Thad little use tor tabric

s and comere

awnings. ¢ olorfud avvmnes seemed old-fashioned.

an uny anted distraction trom the smooth hines of the
rmachine avsthehic, The preterence, instead, was for
perforated structaral ~oeens or brises-soleil (French
“breaks the sun”! that imtegrated shading functions with
new bulding lorms 1w assumed that oew buildings
had no need torawnings, Wdely available for the first
tirme, mcchanical air conditioning threatened to make the
BRI AN unnecesany vestige of an earlier era. Awning
companies fought back wath arguments that traditional
Shading svstems condd reduce the required size and
investment o air condibioning systems. Though

canvas awnings contimucd 1o be used on contemporary
butldmys, now Iy pes were oten setected to do the job

aluminum and hberglass awnings

Widely avaiiable by the 10 aluminum awnings
were touted as longer-lasting and lower-maintenance
than traditional awnirgs Though used on small-scale
commercial structures they were especially popular
with homeowners SCunusum awnings were macde
with slats called “pane” ananged horizontally o
verticallv Forvaricly and to mateh the building to
which they were applied, difterent colored slats could be
vevatitd Lo createe stripes o alther decorative patterns
While aluminum awmings were usually fixed, in the
19600 several operable roller awnings were developed,
weluding one with the frode name Flexalum Robl-Uyp
(Fig. 14)

Aso dusing this perod. manufactured flat-metal
canopies were anoancreasingly popular feature, used in
new commercial construction and when remodeling,
existimg storafronts, [ hey were _u.ntunl.n‘h COmimoan in
the South where shading was eritical to the comfort of
Both window 'wi!\‘]"‘-\“l wand store interiors. Often made
o aluminum, the canopies could streteh across a single

tacade, or be comected to extend along, an entire block

New Shapes. Anincreasing reliance upon hixed
aluminum frames angd plostic covenngs spurred the
development ol new aweonny shapes during the 1970y
and TURis. Otten, the avning served as a business's

primary sign, Mansard awnings, concave awnings

quarter-round aw nines and ~.[ll.sr|\'l'~It‘lll\d\ with
rounded dome ends appearcd with increasing trequency
Most had vinvlor other plastic coverings that were
outed as being mone wesehent than traditional materials,
Featurmg bold lettering and colors that were often
emphasized by ilfuminating the awnings fron within
these avwnimgs were contmon on new commercial

Anps and wereeven popular inside enclosed shopping



eaere I The years after Woriid
]

Wiee 1 saae the sivdesprend adoptan

falyoninun ienings oi botds

storcfronts and restdences. ( bt ainle

IR A0S I,'lu”;’:"x:‘;‘hi‘ il

rdoaded rofler Tuto the frontba

centers and ood courts, They swere also appiicd,

successfully, to ofder or histeric baildmys where the
wih’.pt'. stze, and matenal bore hitte resemblance to

tradibional aw mimgs

Although the 19505 and Pnts saw the end ot il
canvas awnime's ubiguity on Main Streel, 8 remanmed
merderately popular teature of residential archutecios

Noew materials and technologwes sach as Lateral arm

aperators, acrvlic fabric, and alumimum kept the avw g,

relevant to the postwar ranch house and attonded an
vonnomical wav Lo ll!\ul._-h- older structures  C olortal
awings helped suburbon dwellers distinguish the

nomes from other simibar, models i the nechborhood

Awnings Today

lesday, awnings o 1o variely of shapes, siees, frames

and fabrics. Fixed quarter-round. back-ht awimngs with
broad faces featuring company names, lagos, phon
numbers, and street addresses tunction more s siegn-
than sunshades. Restaorants amd othor conmmenaal
chains use illaminated v mings with nabionalls
recognized brand graphis and stnpe and color patten
Lo attract customers along suburban --~i;'ip~. e
:n.f:mulnr shed trame H‘h.(].‘u_' has l_‘mn*_‘r\i & TURLEFEOTIC
ot pupul.nit‘.' 1 recent vears, 1 many <ok }'-l 1y ing off

nostalgia for the traditional awning. Relatively new

“slaple-in” awnings with a shed shape are commonly

veedd on new commercial construction, s system b
g welded frame of extrided aluamimoem weth o slot an

the outer edge. The tabre covermy s putled Lt and

the ends are secured in the groove with galvamzed -
staples, A vinvl tram bead covers the groove, protecting,

the tabricedges and providimg a tlush appearance

part from the strip miads, awnings are olso reappearin

11 historic business districts and residentia

nerehborhoods Tnothese Tacations, sew awnimngs

typreally feature Tied trames ac operating bt
Both differing hitle from the aswnings of ane hondred
vears before. Fixed-frame awnings have frames muad

at cither alunrnun or hght-waupe galvanized or e

™

codled steel pipes welded together. Frames are secured
ter buikding facades with dlamps, z-shaped clips, and
other hardware. Until secently, operable awnings found
i historie commueraal districts were primarily those
with Bistoric frames and hardware that had survived to
the present. Bul new Lateral-arm awnings with powder-
coated alominum tones are ancinereasingly common
chonee for building ovoness who want the convenicnee of

an aperable svstem

solulton-dyed acrvho - and aerylic-coated polyester-
cotton blended fabrics are olten used to replicate historic
awriing coverings. Hhese relatively new materials
resemble canvas i sppearance and lexture, yet offer
greater strength and durability. Because acrylics are
woven {with the strpes and colors woven directly into
the tabric rather tha peinted on the surtace), they are
durabie and allow it Lo filter through while keeping
heat oul, They drv qroackly, thereby reducing damagy
caused by mildew, and contain a UV inhibitor that
further reduces sunlight damage. Poly-cotton fabrics
conted witha thin acrvlic laver that repels dirt and
resists abrasion are also used: Both acrylic and poly-
cotlon fabries do not <tretch or shrink Jike traditional
canvias so they are conerallv easier to measure, cul, and
instail

Preserving Existing Historic Awnings

I awenings already oxist on a historie building, they
should be evaluated to determine whether they are
appropriate to the age stvle, and scale of the buikding,
wsing the criteria whentitied below. Backlit awnings
andd dome awnings gre vsually inappropriate for 19th
century and other histone buildings, while aluminum
awrnngs may be pertectlv compatible with buildings

o 155 The time s approaching

From the 1950 or @00

when some alumimum swmngs may even be considered
appropriate o older buldings, af the awnings formed
part of an updated storebront, or are central features ol
an mbact postsear sebshioning of the building’s exterior
(Pig: 16}



When an existing awning is determined to be
appropriate to the building, o program ot repai

and regular maintenance should be developed. The
condition of its covering, hardware, connections between
the hardware and the building, and the awning's
operability should be evaluated. Hardware such as
arms, rollers, and gearboxes may only need cleaning ind
lubrication. In other cases more substantial repairs by an
awning company familiar with historse hardware may

also be needed

Awning Repairand Maintenance. The best
preservation practice is to maintain and repair historic
features. The proper care and maintenance of existing
awnings and canopies will extend the life of both
hardware and covering while ensuring the safety of
those passing beneath them. Parts for historic hardware
can still be obtained from some suppliers, cither from
existing stock or as newly manutactured pieces. In some
cases, new marine and boating hardware can substitute
for missing historic awning hardware. Damaged picces
of the still popular galvanized pipe frames can easily

be bent back into shape or, if necessary, replaced with

virtually identical material

Fioure 15, This 1950s-era dry cleamer has an aluninum moning that

witle its vertical pattern and alternating stripes yemerits tn
facade's porcelenr enamel pasies and af o o The a
forms an essental elewient of e bualdin nstorte charack

Ongoing maintenance consists of keeping all pivot
points and gears lubricated and clean of debris. Regulai
inspections should also include checking for rust

on the frame and hardware, Such areas should be
promptly scraped and painted, as rust may discolor and
deteriorate fabric coverings. When awning hardware

is properly repaired and maintained, its lifespan can be
signiticantly extended

Exposure to the elements and the limited lifespan

of even new acrylic fabrics mean the repair and
replacement of the covering will probably oceur more
[requently than work on the frame or hardware. The
longevity of any tabric covering is largely dependent
upon where itis installed and how it is cared for.
Awnings beneath overhanging trees, for example, are
vulnerable to sap, tfruit. and animal droppings that
contain acids, which can deteriorate and discolor fabrics.
Branches, flags, banners ar other objects brushing
against an awning can abrade the awning fabric. With
proper care acrylic fabrics on fixed awnings have
aservice life of eight to fitteen years of year-round

{‘\}‘ﬁl‘wltll"

Figure 16, These filerglas- “clamshell” awnings, although not as
old as the 19305 building 1o celich they were affixed, are inportan!
features that have acquered <ioniticance. They were retained when

the Predldding was recenthy relrebidibaled

5]



Regular cleaning will lengthen the litespan of any
awning. About once a month the covering <hould be
hosed down with clean water. Choose a sunny day

so that the fabric dries quickly and thoroughlyv, Keep
retractable awnings extended until they dey ({\In}"t tely
Fhe awning, underside can be kept clean by brashing

it with a household broom. Regular cleaning helps
prevent dirt from becoming embedded in the fabr \I
least fwice a vear the awning should be gently scrubhed
using a soft brush and a mild, natural s oap (not a
detergent) and ninsed with a garden hose. Every two
or three years, professional ¢|u aning is recommended
During, this process, the covering 1s usually removed
from the building, washed, and treated with an
appropriate water repellant solution. Local awning,
companies may otler this service or the building ovone
can ship the covering to a specially awning cleaning:
tirm. Depending on the frame style and fabric, some
awnings may be cleaned without being removed.

While most fixed awnings remaim in place vear round
they last longer if taken down at the end of the vwarm
weather season. Preferably, coverings should b
remuoved by an awning service that can dean them
restitch seams if necessary, and store them for th
winter. Property owners removing awning covering
themselves need to store them in a dry place with good
air circulation.

It a covering begine to sag between cleanings, the caue
(an object on top stretching the material, loose laces, a
damaged seam) must be addressed as soon as possible
When other maintenance or repair work is undertaken
on the building, it 15 advisable to remove fived awnin:
temporarily, as they are casily damaged or stained by
malerials dropped fron above,

Funding Awning and Canopy Work

In some commercial districts, local “main street”
associations, chambers of commerce, or business
improvement district offices offer assistance for
awning rehabilitation projects. Such organizations
may sponsor grant programs or low-interest loan
programs with funds that can be used for awning
work. These initiatives, often bundled with facade
improvement and signage programs, enhance

the visual character of a street or neighborhood,
encourage conformance with guidelines and

offset what is in some cases the higher cost of

a historically appropriate installation. When

a building is located within a historic district,
additional grants, loans and tax incentives may
exist. The availability of funding assistance, in
these cases, is usually contingent upon completing
rehabilitation work in keeping with established
preservation practices.

1o

Although more durable than in times past, awning
covers can still develop tears and holes caused by
ladders, talling trees, and vandalism. Fabric nearing the
end ol its service Lite is most vulnerable to tearing along
the seams. Though avvning companies are usually called
to do repatrs, enlerprising owners can underiake some
work themselves, | the damage is minor, repair work
may be done while the awning remains in place. Small
holes ar tears inacrvlic coverings can be immediately
treated witha hot necdle or awl that will melt the fraved
edges and prevent the damage from spreading,. Patch
kits are available that tunction like band-aids. keeping
the torn edges together These patches, glued or sewn
to the tabric, let the awning color show through but do
have a semi-gloss sheen to them. Significant damage
requires removing the covering and, usually, sending

it to a sewing shop. There, work may include inserting
a fabric pdh'l':, restitching seams, or replacing an entire
tabric parel If the avwning is relatively new it is possible
to obtain a good match between replacement and
original material

Installing New Awnings

since fabrics are subject to weathering and deterioration
and hardware is exposed to the elements, some awnings
may be beyond repar. Depending on the circumstances,
new awnings may replace deteriorated existing awnings
in kind or be installed where awnings were once in place
as seen in pictorial or physical documentation. In other
instances, they may be newly mstalled where no awning
previously existed, provided they are compatible with
the historic building Whatever the circumstances, it

is importantto selec an appropriate awning shape,
malerial, frame dimensions, signage (if any), and
placement on the tacads

If the condition of a historically appropriate existing
awning is beyond repair, it should be used as the basis
tor selecting a replacement. When a historic awning,

1s missing, owners should first look for evidence of a
previous awning installation. Evidence can be either
phvsical or documentary. The existence of surviving
hardware-—rollers tnnl arms, gearboxes, clamps and
other lasteners-—or signs that hardware was once in
place, such as bolt holes or recessed roller boxes—are
the most likely formes of physical evidence (Fig. 17).
Storetront remaodeling projects often uncover concealed
and disused awning hardware that can either be repaired
or at least sugest what ty pe of awning was formerly

in place This i is especially true for awnings that had an
operating rod, gearboses, and perhaps motors concealed
in recesses within the building wall. Protected from the
elements, these items are Tikely o survive in repairable
condition. Sometimes physical evidence of earlier
awnings canbe tound in the basement or upper floors
where hardware and even old coverings may have been
stored atter being remaoved from the facade.

Clamps, fasteners, and bolt holes in an exterior wall can
reveal the position, (v pe and dimensions of a missing



Where no awning, curtently exists, and there is no
evidence ot o past one 1t may still be possible to add an
awning o a histeric baildimg without altering distinglive
features, damaging historw tabric or changing the
building's historic character, A new awning should

be compatible with the features and characteristios

of a historic building, o well as with neighboring
buildings, or the Iustonic distoct, it applicable, Hlistoric
photographs ot similar neghbonng buildings with
avwnings, can alo be helpaat in choosing an approprate
mstatlation. When selecting and installing a new

awning. a number of otber tacters should be considered:
-,im}u csvale, massing, placement, signage, and colo

Shape. Traditionally, both residential and commercial

a
i
|
__h.

awnings were triangudar i section, usually with a
valance harging down the outside edge (Fig, 19)
Farly examples of these shed” awnings had simple

Frowre 17 A gearlox, sinde vod, e ] B
P { that Hizs Tl Py il i J
.! |=.I ! T { if) il L (i
Pt f ! / ‘ vonty clerk i Morean Connt
LTI TIAFATTIC COTOE ORTI O eRadr ot i | e i oty clere i vlorgan Coperty
s o aongdie fabinse annd e SEREE Sroonednce glare in Hie conrthor

siwicing sefs of aronings an Hg
B torae phpbos as o guide, wew
il strpe petttern were instaliod

avong nstallation. Fattings or ether marks on thie =ads e owes and protecting county records

it Frances Wide

ot the entrance or windows, lor example, suggest that a
tined-arm awning was present rather than a Lidecal-arn
WYY Cearboxes |m|ni to o retractable rather tharoa

bixed awnming.

Hestoric photographs and diaveings are o primary
docimentary resource used to determine an carlie
awning configuration. Photographs have the added
boenelit ol }1n1\.'i\ii!1;" intormation about the cover ingt,
such as stripe pattern, valanee Ivpe, and lettering. When
old ]."‘f]i?fl".!fa!}"]lh indicate that the listorie character of o
bunfding was defined in part by distimetive s nmgs il

s appropriate to mstall new awnimgs that replhicate then

appearance (Fig, 181 1 there s evidenee tha

AMEVEY

ot thew color

e QN prl“wﬂi Put no mtormation

nape is avatlabic, a4 color should b seleched that

ur heeping with the bustonc character of the oaldimg and

thistncl



Il':';.“all."'.‘.wl’.-s.*-u-:l—:"l:‘.,p.I}".‘c or planks angling oo

trom the building facade and supported on post. Farl
retractable veesions continued s b v uia "t

New awning shapes appeared i the loter Jath cont
o accommundate the eap mding varety af door and

window contigurations. Casement ssandow anwvnimy

s 13 ') ¥ Y4 i ‘-. ]
were box-like i shape lo accommaodate the outaw ard

swing of the vertical sash, Window openings il

arched 1\"}1-. ety as those tound on Halia

and commercial ‘r\tll|-.f.:1g\--_ wore often shad

awnings wilh matching top

Generally, tradibonal shed avenings are appropriate to
most historic window, door, and storetiont« st

It is preterable (and i some nstoric distoices, reguired

that these awnings have free-hanging valanoes, th

Happing boltom proces - scharacteristic ol historn R sl s Wt acrylic oF canas

awmngs. Ouaarles vitind e NS, modern mansarnd DETINS [ free-ne i Cos e appropraade for mes! loston
1 'y Ho ) L S

awnings, and other contemporany commenial design g

with distended, fixed valonces have no precedent o
tradiional aw |1"|:._;J|'~-1-:r| and are usaallv IPPIOpPriat

tor hstorie buildings thw, 20

Likew ise, stapiv-in systems are not reconunended o
historie buildings. One of the distinctive featiees ol a
--t,:pil' N system s an excephion 1y taut and wreinkle-tro
appearance; indeed, this s chief appea ' bt

w hen nppl!-\r,l W newy corestruchion, Historio awnens
however were either retractable or bualtswsth o covenng
laced onto a trame. Botl forms had a tair amouant

aive inthe fabric, Staphe systems, especially those watl

long valances, usually present

.I=.I|‘L'L QIO T3

stuiled to newer construchion, While not recommended

Sinstallation on most historic buildings, they may b

suitable for mnll construction within a |l

Scale, Massing, and Placement. Boecavse thew promany
purpose was funs tional rather than decorative, mwning

were tradittonally mstatled ondy where necessan

Window awnings were most commonly toand on Figuree 200 Adoen diomroy wus aa Drapproprite addition {o this
Building elevations with southers exposares o the e 189S Pl L endes fe gualify for listoric tax crodils
1 5 3 (o 1 ‘ Fra ®IIITtT Tt of { wssp bl chsrid siraFs e v )
northern arcas ol the Unibed States and on elevations e el gl arenie, e TR SHie QeI Y0
civkoy M L] H i ' 1

with buth northern and southero exposures an thy
southern United States, Thev swere also tound o cast

anad west elevabtions, and sometimes jJust on selectin

windows, RHetract,

e awenings qnally more

conmmon i northern climates sehere awa reguined

additional protection frone extreme weather condibio

The design of parbicudar comnien 1wl building
mfluenced the placement of its awnings. Some

storetrants with traditional elass transoms had
the awninge placed belfosw the transom, others, had

t
the awning mstativd above the transon.. On both
commaercial and residential butidings, awnngs were

only wide enough to cover the swindos epenmngs tha

they sheltered; a sigle caning rarely covered tiwo o

o
il g Figwre 21 Singde acetinegs shionded not be sef over more thas inne
more bays (Fig, 213 Oo storefronts, they were not higi ‘ ! &
4 L W fefvie Jyn prercte sited gremn et a canors o
up on the building facade than was necessary 1o shade S e X | VS R
the entrance and displas window, Thus, it s impaortan



when installing new awnings on historic buildings to
ensure that the covering not obscure the building's
distinctive architectural teatures (Fig. 220 Also, new
awning hardware should not be installed in o way

that damages historic materials, Clamps and fasteners
used o attach awning frames shoald penctrate morta
joimnts rather than brick or other masonry surfaces. 1
new backboards and rollers are imstalled, care needs to
be taken not to damage cornices or transomes. Finally
awning placement, size. and shape must be compatibl
with the historic character of the building (Figs 25 and
24).

Material. Historically, avwnings were covered with
canvas that was either solid in color or painted with
stripes. During the second half of the twentieth centunry
canvas tell out of favor and was superceded by vinyd
and other synthetic textiles. For various reasons
-particularly its reflectivity and texture-—vinv] i
geacrally an unsuitable material for awnings on historn
buildings. Many historic review commissions note the
inappropriateness of vinvlin therr guidelines and call

tor the use of canvas, canvas blends, or actvhics that

resemble canvas

Fivure 22

weappeared on the 19 certury. The fabrie s s

These winrdvie awmegs today match what woendd

frames, the valasces fang frecly, cacly wing

s, amd B geesg lamie se'l el 't

vy Vlike Jackson

Weather-resistant acrylic fabrics such as solution-dyed
acrylic and acrylic-coaled polyester-colton approximate
the historic look of canvas coverings, vet afford a new
level ot durability, color-tastness, and ease of use.
Quality |m|'\-um|lun coverings may be more appropriate
in some cases because, like traditional awnings, the
colors and stripes are painted directly on the upper
surface, while the underside remains a pearl gray color.

Signage. In addition to sheltering shoppers and
merchandise, and reducing glare and temperatures,
awnings on commercial buildings offer valuable
advertising space. Photographs from the mid-19th
century show awide range ot lettering and logos-
business names, Lypes of Irade thosiery shop, telegraph
house), street numbers— on the sloped coverings and
side flaps of awnings. The most common placement

of a shop proprietor’s business name or service was on
the valance hanging down trom the awning edge. The
front valance provided a flat surface visible whether the
awning was retracted against the building wall or fully
extended (Fig, 25). Many establishments, however, left
their awnings unadorned without any lettering,

Frgure 23 This posteoar alum i auning does not contribute te
the cluracter of this 194 continy residence and coudd be replaced
during ¢ rehabililation prosect with a fabric shed awening more in

keeping with the building < age and appearance



e Tamirp Dot

nledis

asuil The vibsraney they lent to aitv slreets

o lacades ke a necklie on

and neiphborbioods = part of the hstory of these

envirenments ancl st sostibts can be achieved todam
v Al

Awning and Canopy Regulation

Because comraercial o Iill"};‘- often extend mito Ihl‘
public rightof-way, municipal building L!x_'}‘.ll'i:]lt'i'i'f-~
usually regulate thon wse. Regulations specify

construction Lype tmatenals and dimensions of framing

g 25, Appre ; i, itk o Hhes voller awoninyg ok | ’ : -

AL Loy : pemibiers, the use o tlame-retardant Labrics), mimimum
1y Fagre fistacte i e ot dctracbiiag froni i ; o <
ctorty caaracter of fioe badddot wieht above the <idowalk (usually between seven and
i's It ! )47 LTS

ort feer), muntmu o distanee belween thee projeciing
edee and the corb Lenaliv between one and Lwo teet),

Today creating baree lettered s1gns on e new awing and maximum | chion from the building wall

as parl of a rehabilitation project requires special can such regulations are meant to ensure that awnings are

a3 i virola ke i oy e I | YA 9 3 . y 1 i
and is not apprapnate inall cases. | ner beton vourely buift, doonot pose 2 threat to pedestrians, and

any local signage contral, bastoric

|'\.!(I‘:|W|\"~ Ol suct

g, Often
retlected the character of a district
with more upscale retail arcas, tor

example, being more reserved than

AR TITI T

wholesale districts. Contemporary
awning lettering can add visual
interest and commeraast identite but
Should be designed in beeping with
the historic character of a butldony
and its historie distnoct

Color. As in the past vartety i
awning color s anapproprate

chiaracteristic when remtroduacing

awnings in historic district
Since the T8th cenjury, awnings Vo

Mave featured a range of ditferent

stripe patterns and an estensiv
color palette (e, 2600 Thew P ] Fot FEicE Com

lvely, even whimsical, aililasdi aresony @ s o i fhes. et i Street. b

14



are not at risk from widelv-ioaded trocks, [ etterme
codor. and the relabionship to adpacent e desiene
mayv also be subject to budding department revicw and

approval.

Awning work on buddings located i histoie district
will Tikely be reviewed by a histone distoct commissien
(HDC) HDCs may abso review grant applicaticsns
and recommend approvals tor Lwcade mmprovenwnt
programs, where such programs are m place. Though
commissions ook al projects ona cose-by-case bases
many have established eoidelines that address general
sues and local concerns relating to awnimgs and
canopies {Fig. 2710 Often, Jocal destgn gaideline. ar
mudeled upon The secretany of the Interonr s Standards
and Gundelines tor Rehabilitating Historic Butldings
Phese standardds set forth principles meant to ensare
that nesw elements are added sensitively, do not damay,
historie tabric, and are compatible wilh the histon

character of the buildiny
Summary

Pike all exterior building teatures that are subjected
snoosy, rain, sunlight, wind, and pollution-—awnmse-
need regularattention, Coverad even with moddern
malerials, ‘.|u‘}.‘ Ia‘uiuln- Mantenance :'a‘;".m Jned
eventually replacement. Awnings are often the ~ost
feature to be altered when bistoric buildings change
aswners oF uses. Thev otten bave o sieniiicanlt virde in
contributing to the histore character of a banlding, I
unportant that owners, architects, engineers, historia-
and others consider tos when plomapg work onoa

historie building

Awnings and the Sun

Although their effectiveness can be affected
by many factors including location, climate,
window size, and blass type, the energy efficiency
advantages of awnings are clear. According to the
Department of Energy, awnings can reduce heat
gain up to 65% in south facing windows and up
to 77% on windows facing east. Awnings reduce
stress on existing air conditioning systems, and
make it possible to install new HVAC systems
with smaller capacity, thus saving purchasing and

_ operating costs. Air conditioners need to work less

hard, less often. When used with air condllioners
awnings can lower the cost of coolmg a buildmg
by up to 25%.

Awnings offer a number of benefits to owners of
historic buildings. Awnings can make unnecessary
a host of other alterations made to buildings in

the name of energy cfficiency. Awnings provide
nearly comparable glare reduction and reduced
heat-gain as inted windows or window films,

vet are in keeping with the historic appearance

of a building facade. They help protect historic
windows and storefronts, and allow windows to

_remain open, and cool air to circulate, even during

inclement weather. In warm climates, they reduce
the resid to replace existing windows with new
lnﬁ‘fHL-mng glass units for the purpose of energy
tmi-,-:,n"ation

Awumq:. mcre mmralh’d on the cast, twst, and sauﬂ!
windows of the Florida State Crrp:!of in the 1980s. With
a design based on those seen in historic phmogmphs of the
bmldnuq, the new awnings allowed a downsizing of the
HVAC system by 25 tons. After installation, the exposed
glass surface ina typical first floor office ac ‘counted for only
46% of the required cooling load, down from 72%. Phato:
qDams;mr of Historical Resources, Florida Deparlmcn! of
kife



Selected Bibliography

Lnerican Soceely of Heatoog, Kefrigeeating and An Maorenberg, Steve. vvnngs Through the Ages
Conditieminyg Engoieces, Handbook Chapter M Tagtsestr! Falbee P < Kemew, September (49973

tenestration, Atlanta; ASHRAL, 2001,

S epartment oo Lneray, Cotling Your Home .\‘.‘arer!'.-s:’f}.f.
Cinnntler, Ernest, Awntimesand Tonks: Consteuobion g

W hce of Energy Ericiencye and Renewable Energy

Dieseen, Noew York: Ernes! Chandlers, 1914 Pactsheot, DOECHTDoGR 221, October 1994
‘Fusion of Old aid Noew, ™ Fabrawcs and Architects White, Anthary . o Canopies and Marguoes: A
Seplember /Octaber T 4215 Setected Bibliosarapi, N ana e I?I'i‘fiugi\lphu'\ Architecture

series: Bibliographiv =40 1456

Nuckenfuss, Lavra A and Fisher, Charles |

"

Mreserpationt leci Note, " Windows Numbers 7 Woandow
Awvwnings” Washat pton, .07 National Park Servie

L Department ot the Inleriorn and Georgia Institute of
lechnology, 1981

“Avemings Back sn Style” Trandifional Braddiog, Tansnr

February 1997, 7o

Acknowledgements

Chad Rand! is an Architechiral Hhstorian with Techieal 1

wrvation Services, Herrlapee Uresesyation Services Division, National
Coender tor Cultural Resources, Natonal Park Servicee, m Washington, 24

Fhe author wishes ta thank the folloswing tor therr assistaeoe i the preparation and revaews o s brief

Seott Massov ol Awning Cleanmg Industries; Walter LG omne ot John Bovie & Comparee Tne s lacob I Luker of Muskegon
wening; Steve Morenberg of Reeves Brathers, Inc; Karen Musech of the Industeial Fabaice Sceaoiation lidernational; Robert
Montgomery of Mantgamery Shade & Awning, Lid Michelte Capeko of the Astrap Compoow Broace N Wright of Febr,
Vrobitechires Lincoln M Chnslensen of Anchor Industries, inc, Mike lackson, FALA, af the Hhnots Historie Preservation Agency;

Stephen Stowet of the Lowell Histone Board: and Sharon O Pack, FALA, Michael | Aue
YVan Dammue, and Charles o BEisher of Hleritage Proservation Services, National Park -

o P Weeks, Anne Grimmer, Lauren

Front cover image: Ancher Indasines, b

Phis publication has been prepared pursuant to the Natonal Fistooe Preservaton Ao cruded, which directs the becretary
ot the bterior to develop and oake avatlable adommnation concerming histore propucticn, © omenents about this publication
<heald be directed to: Charles Fisher, Technical Publicatsons Program Manager, Techooa! Presenvation Services, National Park
Service, 18490 Streel, MW, X

can be reproduced without penalty. Normal proced

35, Washington, DO 202400 - vawswernpagon hps (e This pubheation is not copyrighted and

res toe credit to the author andg the Nabonal Park Serviee are appieciated.

Lnless otherwise indicated, photographs ane by the auther Bxcepting the anthor's photo- sae photographs used in this

prublication may not be used toHustrate cither subhicatzens sithos prrmission o thwe coan

FasN: ORE5-TlH 6

LS, Gaovernment Printimg Obhee: 2088 0 RESLH Aprit 205



TEXAS HISTORICAL COMMISSION

STREETSCAPE GUIDELINES FOR HISTORIC COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS

When street and sidewalk improvement projects receive federal funding and oversight, federal agencies or
communities must consult with the Texas Historical Commission (THC) in accordance with Section 106 of the
National Historic Preservation Act. Examples of commonly funded federal programs for streetscape projects in
Texas include the Texas Capital Fund (U.S. Department of Housing and Utban Development funding administered
by the Texas Depatrtment of Agriculture) and the Statewide Transportation Enhancement Program (Federal
Highway Administration funding administered by the Texas Department of T'ransportation). Section 106 requites
consideration of the potential effects of a project on historic properties. If your project area is identified as including
historic properties in consultation with the THC, continued close coordination with the THC regarding the
design of your project will be a key element for success. Successful projects tailor design solutions to preserve
the history and character of an individual community. The THC’s goal in guiding a project is to preserve significant
elements and introduce new features that are compatible with the historic character of a community, not to freeze
the appearance of a streetscape in time or restore it to a particular period.

As each community in Texas is unique, the design of each project should be tailored to respond to the history and
needs of that specific community. In addition, community input and the creativity of your design professional are
important components of the design process, and in many cases mote than one option can offer a preservation-
oriented solution. The THC, therefore, does not set strict rules, but instead assists design decisions, basing its
review on the Secretary of the Interiot’s Standards for Rebabilitation. These 10 standards, developed by the National
Patk Service for projects that require sensitive treatment of histotic propetties while allowing for their modification
to meet continued or changed uses, are as follows (italicized sections represent the THC’s interpretation of these
standards for streetscape projects):

1. A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that requires minimal change to the
defining characteristics of the building and its site and environment. Sapport the use and preservation of the area’s historic
buildings and streetscape features. Allow the historic setting, human activity, individual businesses, and special events to provide the
cultural stimulns and revitalization.

2. The historic character of a propetty shall be retained and preserved. The removal of historic materials or
altetation of features and spaces that characterize a property shall be avoided. Identify bistoric streetscape featnres in your
project area and plan for their preservation.

3. Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place, and use. Changes that create a false
sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural features or architectural elements from other buildings,
shall not be undertaken. Study the historic appearance of yonr streetscape and avoid adding elements from other communities that
were not bistorically present in yonrs.

4. Most properties change over time; those changes that have acquired historic significance in their own right shall
be retained and preserved. Understand the period within which important events and growth occurred in your bistoric downtown.
Respect the character of buildings and elements added during that period of significance.

5. Distinctive features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship that characterize a
historic property shall be preserved. Profect significant historic sireelscape features and incorporate them into your project. Protect
adjacent historic buildings from damage during construction.

6. Detetiorated historic features shall be repaired rather than replaced. Where the severity of deterioration requires
replacement of a distinctive feature, the new feature shall match the old in design, color, texture, and other visual
qualities and, where possible, materials. Replacement of missing features shall be substantiated by documentary,
physical, ot pictorial evidence.

7. Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to historic materials shall not be used.
The sutface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, shall be undertaken using the gentlest means possible.

8. Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and preserved. If such resources must
be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be undertaken.

9. New additions, extertior alterations, or telated new construction shall not destroy histotic materials that
characterize the propetty. The new work shall be differentiated from the old and shall be compatible with the



Sireetscape Guidelines for Historic Commercial Districts 2

massing, size, scale, and architectural features to protect the historic integrity of the property and its environment.
Design new elements, such as ramps for accessibility, to be in keeping with the historic character of the streetscape but distingnishable as
modern additions, Respect the excisting character of the project area. Avoid the nrge to overdesign and recognize that new features should
be secondary, supporting elements.

10. New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in such a manner that if removed in
the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic property and its environment would be unimpaired.

Guidelines for the design and treatment of sidewalks and streets, accessibility, corner extensions, trees and
vegetation, historic canopies and awnings, street furniture, street lights, artwork and decoration, and historic
buildings are listed below to assist you in the application of the Standards to streetscape projects. THC staff can
provide additional assistance regarding how to interpret this guidance in the context of your project and historic
commercial district. Please do not hesitate to contact us with questions.

The THC encourages you to consult and incorporate these guidelines as eatly as possible, ideally before public
meetings are held to discuss the scope and nature of the streetscape project. Material may be submitted to the THC
for preliminary review eatly in the design process to ensure that the proposed work is in keeping with the Standards.
To complete the Section 106 process, construction documents nearing finalization must be submitted for THC
review. If the proposed work meets the Standards, a determination of “no adverse effect to historic properties” will
conclude the review process and the project may proceed without further consultation; however, any changes made
following this determination must be submitted for review. Please see our website at http://www.the.state.tx.us/
crm/crmdefault.shtml for additional information on the Section 106 process and what to submit for a ptoject
review. The project must be coordinated separately with other state agencies with regulatory authotity.

SIDEWALKS AND STREETS

o Identify historic features of the sidewalks and streets, such as high or stepped curbs, stone or brick curbs,
stamped concrete in the sidewalks, historic manhole covers, mosaic tile street names, tiled store entries, trolley
tracks, and brick strects. When these elements contribute to the distinctive character of yout historic downtown,
preserve them in place whenever possible.

¢ Repair damaged brick streets if necessary and perform selective, in-kind replacement with matching brick for
areas damaged beyond repair. Likewise, repair historic sidewalks or consider replacing them with like material if
damaged beyond repair.

o If sidewalk replacement is necessary, the preferred option is to use either the same matetial as currenty exists or
a material used in the location historically, based on adequate documentation. Unless documentation shows historic
brick sidewalks, accepted preservation practice discourages the introduction of brick or modern pavers to sidewalks
as it can create a false sense of historical development of the community. However, the use of removable concrete
panels or pavers for ease of access to in-ground utility boxes or channels is acceptable, when the color of the pavers
is similar to ot matching the existing sidewalk, Similatly, pavers may be used to distinguish pedestrian zones in areas
where there are multiple curb cuts or no curb separating the sidewalk from the street. Avoid pavers that are brightly
colored, multicolored, placed in decorative patterns, or inscribed with donots” names, because they can be
distracting from the historic character of a commercial district.

e If youwish to introduce variety to concrete sidewalks, vary the texture by the use of a simple trowel ot broom
finish. Elabotate paving patterns, multiple colors, and different materials distract users and are generally not
compatible with the character of historic streetscapes. However, where a variety of historic materials contribute to
the varied chatacter of the historic streetscape, these materials should be preserved.

ACCESSIBILITY

¢ The THC supports efforts to make historic commercial districts accessible by bringing sidewalks into
compliance with Texas Accessibility Standards (I'AS) and the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Accessibility
Guidelines. However, an effort should be made to balance new features, such as ramps and handrails, with the
historic character of the commercial district.

® Retain historic high curbs with the addition of new steps and accessible ramps in a compatible matetial. Where



Streetscape Guidelines for Historic Commercial Districts 3

possible, install these features on side streets to better preserve the main street’s historic appearance.

e Railings may be necessary at ramps or along sidewalks to meet current accessibility and safety requirements.
Select railings that are simple in design and as unobtrusive as possible so as not to block views or distract from the
historic storefronts.

CORNER EXTENSIONS

o Corner extensions (expansion of the sidewalk into the parking lane at street corners, also known as bump-outs
ot aprons) are sometimes necessary when sidewalks are too narrow ot have too high an clevation for other
solutions, for the control of vehicle traffic and parking, or for the provision of pedestrian safety. However, when
not carefully considered, these new elements can dramatically change the character of a block or district.

e When corner extensions are planned, either minimize their size as much as possible and use materials that are
compatible in color and texture with the historic sidewalk, or allow these spaces to be the foci for introducing new
elements such as light poles, planters, trees, and benches.

TREES AND VEGETATION

e Historically, trees and vegetation were primarily planted on residential streets and around civic buildings like
courthouses, post offices, and libraries. In commercial districts, canopies and awnings (see below) were the most
common method of providing shade to sidewalks. Historic documentation, such as photographs of the downtown
area, should inform your decisions about whether to plant trees in your commercial district.

e New plantings reduce can visibility to storefronts and signs, block future restoration of canopies, and obscure
street lighting. When introducing trees, plant them on side streets with no or limited storefronts, in corner
extensions, ot in specific spaces such as pocket parks, vacant lots, parking lots, and blocks with non-historic
buildings. Vegetation should be low in profile so as not to block historic features of buildings and districts.

e Take into account necessary periodic maintenance of proposed trees and other plantings, their likelihood of
survival in a heavily paved area, and potential future damage to paving from root growth.

HISTORIC CANOPIES AND AWNINGS
Historically, canopies (projecting roof structures) and awnings (lightweight shade structures, often fabric stretched
over a frame) sheltered entrances to businesses and shaded sidewalks in commercial districts. In some cases, these
elements are no longer extant or have been modified over time. Although enhancement projects may not include

repair of reconstruction, protect support poles for canopies or balconies during construction (see “Protection of

Historic Featutes during Construction” below). In addition, do not introduce new elements to the streetscape that
will inhibit future restoration of historic canopies and awnings by building owners.

STREET FURNITURE

¢ Identify and protect historic street signs, planters or historic plantings, hitching rings, benches, and other
historic street furniture and preserve these elements in their original locations.

e Concentrate new street furniture, such as benches, planters, and trash receptacles, at corners. Only include
furniture whete sidewalks are wide enough to accommodate these elements. Select furniture based on a local
historic design, or introduce a simple, modern design that is compatible in scale, style, color, and texture with
surrounding significant historic features. Do not introduce historic designs from other locations as this will present
a false sense of local histoty. Choose muted colots for modern elements to avoid distracting attention from the
historic features of the buildings and streetscape.

e Do not permanently fix new street furniture to historic features. Instead, connect furniture through pavement
joints, with chains to stationary objects, or other reversible methods.

STREET LIGHTS

e Protect and incorporate existing historic lighting into the streetscape design where possible.

e If historic street lights are no longer extant, choose new fixtures that match the historic as closely as possible.
Some manufacturers continue to produce historic designs. However, if a commercial district did not have street



Streetscape Guidelines for Historic Commercial Districts 4

lights during the historic period or if the community does not wish to replicate the historic lights, choose new street
lighting that is a modern design but compatible in scale, appearance, and color with the character of the downtown,
Do not select historic designs from other locations as this would create a false sense of historical development.

ARTWORK AND DECORATION

¢ Retainand preserve historic artwork such as murals and sculpture.

e Carefully consider proposed new decorative features for their compatibility with the historic district or
buildings, and whether their design and construction ate likely to stand the test of time. Plan for staff time, training,
and funding for petiodic maintenance of proposed new features.

o Consider limiting the number of new decorative features in an effort to retain the historic character of the area.

® Scasonal enhancements and decorations are generally acceptable, provided they do not damage historic fabric.
Attach festive lighting and decorations to non-historic surfaces.

PROTECTION OF HISTORIC FEATURES DURING CONSTRUCTION

Historic featutes, such as buildings, fences, and canopies, should be protected from damage during sidewalk
demolition and construction. At the request of the THC, the Texas Department of Transportation has produced
standard protection notes, below. Insert these, or similar protection notes, in construction documents:

PROTECTION NOTES FOR THE REMOVAL OF EXISTING PAVEMENT, CURB OR SIDEWALIK. AND
CONSTRUCTION OF NEW PAVEMENT, CURB OR SIDEWALK ADJACENT TO HISTORIC BUILDINGS,
CANOPIES, MATERIALS, FENCES, AND RETAINING WALLS

Whete proposed work is in proximity to historic buildings or other structares {walls, canopies, retaining walls, fences), and
planting beds, and vegetation/groundcover, follow the procedures listed below for demolition, protection, and construction at
these addresses:

In the city of ,at {list addresses):

1. To minimize potential damage to historic structures and materials, contractor to saw cut existing sidewalk 8 to 12 inches
away from the historic structure, canopy suppotts, fence, ot retaining wall,

2. Contractor to construct new sidewalk next to the saw cut edge with installation of expansion joint in between. 1f existing
sidewalk is w0 be removed entirely, the remaining 8 to 12 inches next to the historic structure, canopy supports, material, fence,
or retaining wall will be removed by hand. Expansion joint to be placed between historic structure, canopy suppott, material,
fence, ot retaining wall and new sidewalk,

3. Contractor is responsible for preventing damage to historic structure, canopy supports and their awning, materials, fences,
retaining walls, including garden elements {planting beds, plantings) during the entire construction project, especially during
removal of existing pavement, curb, or sidewalk. During the saw cut and hand removal process, contractor will exercise
utmost caution and will physically protect historic structure foundation, canopy supports, materials, elevations, entryways with
decorative flooring, fences, retaining walls, and landscape elements.

4. Contractor to repair or replace in kind, at his own expense, any historic materials damaged in the course of executing the
work. Contractor is responsible for locating replacement source for historic materials damaged in the course of the work.
Texas Historical Commission to be informed of damage and proposed repairs prior to execution of repait work,

CONCLUSION

Providing a safe and pleasant streetscape environment is important but does not require the loss of historic context.
Streetscape modifications can be accomplished while being sensitive to and enhancing local historic resources. Eatly
and consistent consultation is the most effective way to assist the THC in providing a smooth and efficient review.
Designs may need to be revised in order to comply with preservation standards—please do not wait until the
construction documents age completed to involve the THC. (Updated 2011

Texas Historical Commission
PO. Box 12276

Austin, TX 78711-2276
512.463.6100 TEXAS HISTORICAL COMMISSION
fax 512.475.4872 * real places telling veal scories
the@the.stace.tx.us

www.the.state.oous



